# Parasite Insight: Apicystis bombi

Prevalence of the under-reported parasite *Apicystis bombi* across natural barriers and life stages in pollinator hosts.

# Submitted by Meriel Autumn Joy Anderson to the University of Exeter as a thesis for the degree of Masters by Research in Biological Sciences In July 2019

This thesis is available for Library use on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

I certify that all material in this thesis which is not my own work has been identified and that no material has previously been submitted and approved for the award of a degree by this or any other University.

Signature: .....

### Abstract

Annually, bees contribute over US\$298 billion to the world economy, mostly through their ecosystem service of pollination. Several anthropogenic effects are reducing global wild and managed bee species populations, such as climate change and agricultural land use. There is an urgent need to fully understand the causes of these declines in order to find lasting solutions. One important factor in these declines caused by these anthropogenic effects may be emerging bee pathogens. Bee pathogens can easily jump when transmitted oral-fecally between species due to shared food resources and the commercial movement of honeybee and bumblebee hives. Bees typically have less resistance to emerging pathogens, potentially making emerging pathogens a major contributor to bee declines. This thesis studies the spread of the largely under-researched neogregarine parasite *Apicystis bombi*, which has been shown to have lethal and sub-lethal effects on bumblebees.

Island biogeography predicts that islands have a lower prevalence of pathogens compared to nearby mainland. Chapter 2 compares the prevalence of *A. bombi* in the UK and France across island and mainland sites in foragers of two bumblebee species, *Bombus terrestris* and *Bombus pascuorum*, and the honeybee, *Apis mellifera*. The island prevalence of *A. bombi* in *B. terrestris* (41%±3 s.e.) and *B. pascuorum* (30%±3) was significantly lower than nearby mainland sites (65%±7 and 65%±9), despite having similar climates. This suggests that natural barriers significantly slows the spread of pathogens. However, in *A. mellifera* the island prevalence (65%±5) of *A. bombi* was as high as the mainland prevalence (63%±5). A possible explanation is that the commercial transportation of honeybees bypasses natural barriers, spreading pathogens.

The distribution of *A. bombi* in *A. mellifera* hives has never been reported before. Chapter 3 investigates the prevalence of *A. bombi* across *A. mellifera* capped larvae, nurses and foragers. All three life stages contained *A. bombi*, although larvae (59%±10) and foragers (63%±15) had a significantly higher prevalence than nurses (23%±12), confirming that *A. bombi* can be spread throughout the hive either by contaminated pollen or faeces. The *A. bombi* prevalences found here are much higher than previously reported, in both *A. mellifera* and *Bombus* species. Such high prevalence is cause for concern, and could be a contributing factor in global bee declines.

# **Dedication**

Thank you Parpar for encouraging me to love the bees, if it wasn't for you I wouldn't be researching them. And thank you mum for all your supportive words and for checking my grammar.

Lena you have been a wonderful supervisor for the last 3 years. Thank you for all your support and letting me research something that really interests me.

Thank you Ruth for all your helpful comments on my thesis!

And thank you Nick, my amazing partner. Thank you for letting me constantly bug you to talk through ideas and problems with my thesis. It definitely wouldn't sound as good as it does now without your help.

# Contents

1	Intro	oductio	on la contraction de la contractica de la contra	11		
	1.1	Impor	tance of bees	12		
	1.2	Emerging diseases				
		1.2.1	Spillover and host jumping	13		
	1.3	Threa	ts to bees	14		
		1.3.1	Pathogens	14		
		1.3.2	Farming threats	16		
	1.4	Apicys	stis bombi	18		
		1.4.1	Background	18		
		1.4.2	Prevalence and distribution of <i>A. bombi</i>	18		
		1.4.3	Virulence and effects	21		
		1.4.4	Microbiota	21		
		1.4.5	Consequences	22		
		1.4.6	Preliminary work on A. bombi	22		
	1.5	Aims	of this thesis	25		
2	The	preval	ence of Apicystis bombi across island and mainland sites	;		
	in tł	nree st	udy host species; <i>Bombus terrestris</i> , <i>Bombus pascuorum</i>	1		
	and	Apis n	nellifera.	27		
	2.1	Introd		29		
	2.2	Metho	ods	31		
		2.2.1	Sample sites	31		

		2.2.2	Sample collection	31
		2.2.3	RNA isolation and RT-PCR	33
		2.2.4	Parasite detection	34
		2.2.5	Sequencing	34
		2.2.6	Statistical analysis	35
	2.3	Result	ts	36
	2.4	Discus	ssion	40
3	The	preval	ence of Apicystis bombi in three different life stages of Apis	5
•	mel	lifera.		43
	3.1	Introd	uction	45
	3.2	Metho	ods	49
		3.2.1	Sample sites	49
		3.2.2	Sample collection	50
		3.2.3	Extractions	51
		3.2.4	Apicystis bombi detection	51
		3.2.5	Statistical analysis	52
	3.3	Result	ts	53
	3.4	Discus	ssion	56
4	Con	clusio	n	60
•				•••
5	Sup	plemei	ntary material	65
6	Refe	erence	S	67

# **List of Figures**

1.1	Mean prevalence of Apicystis bombi in experimental hives, control	
	B. terrestris (a) and pesticide exposed B. terrestris (b), background	
	bumblebee (c) and honeybee (d) populations surrounding the ex-	
	perimental hives over the course of 8 weeks. Each time point is two	
	weeks apart. Pascall <i>et al</i> , in prep	23
1.2	The median prevalence of Apicystis bombi sampled over four time	
	points (TP1 Early Spring 2016; TP2 Late Spring 2016; TP3 Summer	
	2016 and TP4 Spring 2017), averages from A. mellifera and the four	
	most common UK Bombus species (B. terrestris, B. lapidarius, B.	
	pascuorum and <i>B. hortorum</i> ) have been compiled together. Box =	
	25th and 75th percentiles, bars = min and max values. Data is from	
	Manley <i>et al</i> in prep	25
21	Man of study sites across the LIK. France and Channel Islands	
۷.۱	Marks with black squares are mainland (all of which are Varrea nes	
	Marks with black squares are mainland (all of which are varioa pos-	
	itive), marks with blue triangles are <i>Varroa</i> free islands, and marks	

- 2.2 Prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* mapped by location, host species (*A. mellifera*, *B. pascuorum* and *B. terrestris*) and island/mainland status. Island sites are blue, mainland sites are black. Prevalence at each site is shown by size of circle, the larger the circle the higher the prevalence.
  38

2.3	Prevalence of A. bombi in the three host species at island or main-	
	land sites	39
3.1	Map of apiaries in West Cornwall, UK, where Apis mellifera samples	
	were collected. Yellow hexagons represent the location of each	
	apiary, numbers next to the yellow hexagons refer to the apiary	
	identity. Pale blue circles are the locations of Cornish towns.	49
3.2	Prevalence of Apicystis bombi in three life stages of honeybee and	
	the background <i>Bombus</i> populations.	54
3.3	The prevalence of Apicystis bombi at each apiary for each of the	
	honeybee life stages. For sample sizes refer to 3.1	55

# **List of Tables**

1.1	Results from Plischuk et al, 2017a; percentage of prevalence of	
	Apicystis bombi in two study species (Bombus terrestris and Apis	
	<i>mellifera</i> ) in North West Patagonia, Argentina	19
1.2	Results from previous studies on the prevalence of Apicystis bombi	
	around the world. Prevalence (Prev) is measured as a percentage	
	of the sample taken in each study. The studies are ordered by year	
	due to the changes in methodology over the years. The first 4 stud-	
	ies and Jones and Brown (2014) used microscopy as the detection	
	method, the other 6 studies used PCR, using general gregerine	
	primers	19

- 2.2 Primers used for the differentiation of *Bombus terrestris* and *Bombus lucorum* samples, and for the detection of *Apicystis bombi*.
   35
- 2.3 True prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* within different species at either mainland or island sites detected using PCR (primer details table 2.2). True prevalence was calculated using the function epi.prev within epiR in R. *B. lucorum* is excluded from prevalence analyses because of low sample size.
  37

2.4	To better understand the interaction between location and species,	
	island and mainland populations were analysed separately. Mini-	
	mum Adequate Model explaining A. bombi prevalence using GLMMs	
	with binomial error structure and logit function. Top model is with	
	the interaction and bottom model is without.	40
3.1	Total number of samples collected from each hive for each life stage.	
	Prevalence of A. bombi as a percentage for each of the life stages	
	within each hive is also shown.	50
3.2	True prevalence (prev) of Apicystis bombi within different life stages	
	in each hive, detected using PCR (primer details table 2.2). True	
	prevalence was calculated using the function epi.prev within epiR	
	in R	53
3.3	Minimum Adequate Model explaining A. bombi prevalence within	
	the three different honeybee life stages using GLMMs with binomial	
	error structure and logit function.	54
5.1	Number of each bumblebee species at each apiary and number of	
	infected with Apicystis bombi from chapter 3 to show what each	
	background bumblebee group at each apiary comprised of	66

# **Chapter 1**

# Introduction

### 1.1 Importance of bees

Many plant species rely on animals for pollination, including 78% of temperate plant species and 94% of tropical plant species (Ollerton *et al*, 2011). Of the world's food crops, 35% require animal pollinators, and 70% of those that do not require it gain additional benefits from animal pollinators (Klein *et al*, 2007), as the presence of pollinators increases the fruit and seed production of self- and wind-fertilised plants (Klein *et al*, 2003; Morandin and Winston 2005; Fijen *et al*, 2018). The productivity of certain fruit, seed and nut crops can decrease by 90% in the absence of animal pollinators (Southwick and Southwick 1992). Worldwide, bees are the most economically important pollinators (Blacquière *et al*, 2012), accounting for nearly 75% of the world's food crop pollination (Grozinger and Flenniken 2019). Here when discussing bees this includes a wide range of species including solitary and social wild bees and managed bees. However, bumblebees and honeybees are experiencing high annual mortality rates around the world (Potts *et al*, 2010a; Potts *et al*, 2010b; Brodschneider *et al*, 2018).

Bee species have undergone substantial range reductions and extinctions in the past 50 years (Kosior *et al*, 2007; Goulson *et al*, 2015). These declines are primarily driven by habitat loss and declines in floral abundance and diversity due to farming intensification (Goulson *et al*, 2008; Marshman *et al*, 2019). Urbanized areas can be beneficial to pollinators due to their high density of flowers, however this may facilitate increased contact rates and in turn increases pathogen transmission (Goulson *et al*, 2012). Emerging infectious diseases play an important role in bee declines (Williams and Osborne 2009; Graystock *et al*, 2013a).

#### 1.2 Emerging diseases

Emerging infectious diseases (EIDs) are infectious diseases that are increasing in reports due to either their appearance in a new host, or a change in the current host epidemiology (Woolhouse and Dye 2001). The emergence of these infectious diseases are largely driven by socio-economic, environmental and ecological factors (Jones *et al*, 2008). There are three classifications for the main sources of these EIDs; (i) spill-over from domestic animals to local wild populations; (ii) host or parasite translocations through human intervention; and (iii) no obvious human or domestic animal association (Daszak *et al*, 2000). Emerging diseases that can infect human populations, such as the mosquito-borne Zika virus (Weaver *et al*, 2018) tend to get more publicity compared to EIDs that infect other organisms such as insects. However EIDs in insect populations are a major threat, which is especially clear in globally important pollinator species (Manley *et al*, 2015). Due to globalisation and the trans-continental trade of commercial bees and equipment, parasites and pathogens have been spreading into new areas at an ever-increasing rate, spilling-over and infecting the native bees (Brown 2004; Mutinelli 2011).

#### 1.2.1 Spillover and host jumping

Pathogen spillover occurs when a pathogen in a host reservoir population comes into contact with and is transmitted to a new host population of the same or different species (Flanagan *et al*, 2012). In spillover, these pathogens are not well adapted to the new host so they are not able to efficiently transmit between individuals in the new host population (Flanagan *et al*, 2012). Host jumping occurs when the pathogen changes (usually genetically), becomes well adapted and is able to efficiently transmit among the new host population (Flanagan *et al*, 2012).

Bee pathogens can thoroughly infest commercial honeybee and bumblebee hives because bees are bred in facilities with ad libitum food, promoting host survival and breeding despite high parasite loads (Brown *et al*, 2000). A constant supply of hosts can lead to the evolution of higher virulence (Ebert 1998); conditions in commercial bee species may thus promote increased virulence because of the easy transmission of parasites between commercial hive neighbours and their successive generations. Such highly virulent parasites may then be readily transmitted into the local wild bee populations through shared floral resources (Meesus *et al* 2011). An example of pathogen spillover is documented in the spread of the bumblebee gut parasite *Crithidia bombi* (Otterstatter and Thomson 2008). Native bees have a much higher prevalence of *C. bombi* when they live in close proximity to a commercial hive (<2km). Otterstatter and Thomson (2008) also found that native species that occupied niches which overlapped heavily with commercial *B. impatiens* experienced higher rates of infection, in accordance with experiments demonstrating transmission via contaminated flowers (Durrer and Schmid-Hempel 1994; Graystock *et al*, 2015).

For host jumping to occur, the new host must be suitable for the pathogen to infect and reproduce within (Woolhouse *et al*, 2005). An example of successful host jumping is the microsporidian parasite *Nosema ceranae* jumping hosts from the Asian honeybee (*Apis ceranae*) to the Western honeybee (*Apis mellifera*), and potentially to wild bumblebees (Graystock *et al*, 2013b). When infected with *N. ceranae*, the *A. mellifera* immune response is much lower than that of *A. ceranae* (Sinpoo *et al*, 2018). This low immune response allows *N. ceranae* to replicate and transmit more effectively leading to a higher fitness of *N. ceranae*. This makes *A. mellifera* a potentially better host allowing *N. ceranae* to now spread all over the world contributing to the collapse of bee colonies (Higes *et al*, 2008; Higes *et al*, 2009).

### 1.3 Threats to bees

#### 1.3.1 Pathogens

New pathogens of bees are being discovered at an increasing rate, and infections may have a major role in the decline of wild bee populations (Colla *et al*, 2006;

Goulson *et al*, 2008). Natural populations of pollinators are usually infected by multiple parasite species (Rutrecht and Brown 2008). There is limited literature available on coinfections between gut parasites, however there are some studies on the potential for antagonistic competition between congeneric parasites who share hosts (Solter *et al*, 2002; Milbrath *et al*, 2015). Inter-specific competition between parasite species is likely to affect their prevalence and potential virulence. A recent study in *A. mellifera* found that the effect of competition depended on the order of parasite infection, the first parasite, *N. ceranae*, inhibiting the growth of the second parasite, N. apis (Natsopoulou *et al*, 2015).

Bees are infected by a wide range of gut parasites (Graystock *et al*, 2015). *Nosema sp*ecies infect honeybees and bumblebees, and has been known to reduce functional fitness of males and females (Imhoof and Schmid-Hempel, 1999). *Crithidia bombi* can increase mortality rates in bumblebees, and its virulence appears to be condition dependent (Brown *et al*, 2000). *Apicystis bombi* is a parasite of many bumblebee species, and causes sucrose sensitivity and a lower lipid/body mass ratio (Graystock *et al*, 2016b). It is unknown how many insect pollinator species *A. bombi* infects and the true reach of this parasite. All of these gut parasites have negative effects on their host, however bees are exposed to a combination of simultaneous stressors in the natural environment (Vanbergen 2013). Pesticides and parasites are a major interacting threat and are probably implicated in many colony collapses (Goulson *et al*, 2015; vanEngeldorp *et al*, 2009). It has been shown that adult honeybees infected with the gut parasite *Nosema ceranae* and exposed to a pesticide have a much higher mortality rate than if just infected with *N. ceranae* (Doublet *et al*, 2015).

The ectoparasitic mite, *Varroa destructor*, is a specialist parasite of honeybees. It jumped hosts from the Asian honeybee (*Apis ceranae*) to the European honeybee (*Apis mellifera*) in the 1940s (vanEngelsdorp and Meixner 2010). *Varroa* feeds on the fat body and hemolymph of the honeybees (Ramsey *et al*, 2019) whist also transmitting pathogens to the larvae/pupa that are sealed in a brood cell. As the pupa have no defences against *Varroa*, it can cause death, reduced lifespan or impairment of cognitive abilities (Kralj *et al*, 2007; Rosenkranz *et al*, 2010). *Varroa* carries the Deformed Wing Virus-complex (DWV A and B) (Genersch *et al*, 2006; Grozinger and Flenniken 2019), and can facilitate the spread of DWV in bees (Wilfert *et al*, 2016). *Varroa* is known to increase mortality of bee colonies over the winter mainly through the spread of DWV (Highfield *et al*, 2009; Genersch *et al*, 2010; Martin *et al*, 2012; Zhao *et al*, 2019). *Varroa* might also be able to transmit bacteria as well as many honeybee viruses (Kanbar and Engels 2003; Vanikova *et al*, 2015).

#### 1.3.2 Farming threats

Intensive agriculture poses many threats to bees, which can also increase the likelihood of EID emergence. Nomadic commercial beekeepers transport huge numbers of colonies (>100) on trucks all over large continents to pollinate agricultural lands and find flowering plants to feed their bees (Phillips 2014). These unnatural movements allow for a rapid spread of pathogens to native pollinators and other commercial hives (Gordon *et al*, 2014). This threat to bee health requires more research attention to better understand the pathogen transmission pathways.

Anthropogenic land use changes can promote EID outbreaks by modifying the infection transmission pathways (Patz *et al*, 2004). Intensive farming practices such as monocultures reduce floral variety and fragment the natural habitat, threatening local pollinator diversity (Goulson 2003; Goulson *et al*, 2005). This negatively affects crop yields, as crops with either specific or generalized pollinators both benefit from a high pollinator diversity (Steffan-Dewenter *et al*, 2005; Babu 2018). Even in self-fertilising highland coffee and canola, an increased diversity of pollinator species improves fruit production (Klein *et al*, 2003; Morandin and Winston 2005). Decreased pollination in plant species also has a negative

impact on the animal species that depend on these plants for food or shelter.

In addition, pesticides such as neonicotinoids damage pollinator populations. These pesticides are synthetic neurotoxins that disrupt the nervous system of pests to lethal effect (Moffat at al, 2016). Studies have shown that neonicotinoids have detrimental effects on bees, such as reduced production of brood and reduced food consumption (Mommaerts *et al*, 2010; Laycock *et al*, 2012), reduced growth rate and queen production (Gill *et al*, 2012; Whitehorn *et al*, 2012). In honeybees it has been shown that sub-lethal concentrations in surrounding areas can drastically reduce honey production (Chambers *et al*, 2019). The accumulation and contamination of neonicotinoids in the global environment is likely to increase, as their use increases around the world, except for Europe (Blacquière *et al*, 2012; Schaafsma *et al*, 2019).

As well as pesticides, antibiotics are regularly used on crops and are introduced into the environment. In apiculture, antibiotics are used to manage bees' bacterial pathogens, such as the protection of larvae from contracting foulbrood (Paenibacillus larvae) (Evans and Schwarz 2011; Hamdi et al, 2011). However this use of antibiotics can have lasting negative effects on the gut microbiota of the honeybees (Raymann et al, 2017). Invertebrates exposed to these antibiotics have their natural microbiota altered (Martinez 2009), changing the gut microbiome's proportion and species composition (Dethlefsen and Relman 2011; Modi et al, 2014). The gut microbiome is crucial to the host's immune system and ability to fight pathogens and can increase disease resistance by providing colonization resistance (Kwong et al, 2017; Mockler et al, 2018). Honeybees and bumblebees pass their gut microbiome faecal-orally to nest mates, which is an important defence against gut parasites (Koch and Schmid-Hempel 2011; Ribière et al, 2018). The gut microbiome in bees is specialised, and can increase resistance to the bee gut parasites such as Crithidia bombi (Koch and Schmid-Hempel 2012; Praet et al, 2018). Altering honeybees' gut microbiota with antibiotics may be a measure for protecting them against bacterial parasites, but it opens the door for other pathogens. This highlights the importance of healthy gut bacteria in pollinators, raising concerns over the use of antibiotics in farming practices.

### 1.4 Apicystis bombi

#### 1.4.1 Background

Initially described as *Mattesia bombi* (Liu 1974), Lipa and Triggiani re-classified *Apicystis bombi* to the new genus of *Apicystis* in 1996 due to its morphology and life cycle. *A. bombi* is a faecal orally transmitted neogregarine parasite of adult bees (SchmidHempel 1995), which resides primarily in the fat body tissues (Lipa and Triggiani 1996). The sporozoites of *A. bombi* emerge in the intestine, penetrate through the midgut wall, and replicate in the fat body cells (Lipa and Triggiani 1996). *A. bombi* is considered to be a low prevalence parasite of *Bombus* species (Plischuk *et al*, 2011; see table 1.2), but molecular screening suggests a higher prevalence (> 25%) of the parasite (Graystock *et al*, 2013b; Graystock *et al*, 2014). *A. bombi* is thought to originally be a parasite of bumblebees that spills over into honeybees and other pollinators (Lipa and Triggiani 1996), and is therefore likely to be a translocation EID due to global transportation of the host *B. terrestris*.

#### 1.4.2 Prevalence and distribution of A. bombi

Studies are documenting the global spread of *A. bombi* in bumblebee populations (table 1.2). However, the literature is sparse in documenting the rise of *A. bombi* in honeybees. Even though it has been demonstrated that *A. bombi* can transfer from bumblebees to *Apis mellifera* via faeces and contaminated pollen (Graystock *et al*, 2013b), it has not been shown whether *A. bombi* can reproduce in *A. mellifera*. Just like the multihost parasite *Nosema ceranae* (Plischuk *et al*, 2009), it is thought that *A. bombi* can infect many pollinator species.

The invasion of non-native bee species has been shown to cause the infection

Table 1.1: Results from Plischuk *et al*, 2017a; percentage of prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* in two study species (*Bombus terrestris* and *Apis mellifera*) in North West Patagonia, Argentina.

Species/Year	2008	2009	2010	2014	2015
B. terrestris	3.6	12.1	14.0	11.1	1.2
A. mellifera	7.6	13.6	3.9	17.2	14.3

Table 1.2: Results from previous studies on the prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* around the world. Prevalence (Prev) is measured as a percentage of the sample taken in each study. The studies are ordered by year due to the changes in methodology over the years. The first 4 studies and Jones and Brown (2014) used microscopy as the detection method, the other 6 studies used PCR, using general gregerine primers.

Host species	Year	Country	Prev (%)	Source
B. terrestris	1988	Italy	4	Lipa and Triggiani 1992
B. hortorum	1988	Italy	10	Lipa and Triggiani 1992
A. mellifera	1990	Finland	3	Lipa and Triggiani 1992
Bombus species	2005	Canada	1.8	Colla <i>et al</i> , 2006
Bombus species	2011	England	30	Graystock <i>et al</i> , 2013
B. hypnorum	2011	England	18	Jones and Brown 2014
A. mellifera	2012	Japan	3	Morimoto <i>et al</i> , 2013
A. m. intermissa	2013	Algeria	2	Menail <i>et al</i> , 2016
B. atratus	2013	Colombia	63	Gamboa <i>et al</i> , 2015
B. pascuorum	2013	Netherlands	48	Piot <i>et al</i> , 2019
Meliponini species	NA	Brazil	3	Nunes-Silva <i>et al</i> , 2016

of native bees by introduced parasites (Plischuk and Lange 2009; Kojima *et al*, 2011). This is due to processes such as pathogen spillover and host jumping. This became a major problem in South America, due to the commercial importation of the non-native *B. terrestris* (Torretta *et al*, 2006; Plischuk and Lange 2009). In samples taken from before and after a *B. terrestris* introduction in Argentina, *A. bombi* was not present in the area until after *B. terrestris* had been introduced. *A. bombi* was later found in all three tested native species (Arbetman *et al*, 2013). Table 1.1 shows the fluctuations in prevalence in Argentina, which could be due to many factors such as managed bee importation fluctuations or high mortality rates of individuals carrying *A. bombi*. South American isolates of *A. bombi* share the same haplotype as European isolates, consistent with the hypothesis that this parasite was introduced during the invasion of *B. terrestris* from Europe. The study

by Plischuk *et al*, (2017a) shows the importance of controlling imported bees in areas where they are non-native.

*A. bombi* has been found in invasive *A. mellifera* in Japan, but not in the native *Apis ceranae japonica* (Japanese honeybee) (Morimoto *et al*, 2013). However, a previous study found that the *A. mellifera* invasion has increased the presence of honeybee viruses in the local *A. ceranae japonica* (Kojima *et al*, 2011), so *A. bombi* transferring to native bees is a possibility, as witnessed in Argentina (Arbetman *et al*, 2013). *A. bombi* has also been detected in *Apis mellifera intermissa* in Africa (Menail *et al*, 2016). These results reflect worldwide dispersion of *A. bombi* in honeybees, but *A. bombi*'s effects on and virulence towards honeybees are not well understood.

The prevalence of *A. bombi* is also affected by the landscape. Large flower fields are a hotspot for bees, and therefore may facilitate the transference of pathogens such as *A. bombi*. A nearby semi-natural habitat can decrease this transference, as it spreads out the concentration of bees, limiting their interaction (Piot *et al*, 2019). The presence of *Apis* species also seems to increase the observed prevalence of *A. bombi* (Piot *et al*, 2019). The prevalence of *A. bombi* in this study was 48.8% in *B. pascuorum*, which is relatively high compared to other studies (see table 1.2).

It is difficult to test from previous work on *A. bombi* (table 1.2) if PCR is definitively better than microscopy alone due to confounding factors such as different host species and different sampling times and locations. However the table does point towards a higher detection rate with PCR compared to microscopy. When comparing the Jones and Brown (2014) and Graystock *et al*, (2013) both data sets were collected in England, however the Jones and Brown (2014) study only using microscopy detected a lower prevalence compared to the Graystock *et al*, (2013) study which used PCR detection. Goulson *et al*, (2017) mentioned that studies using only microscopy tended to report lower prevalences compared to studies using PCR. This demonstrates the need for PCR techniques in detecting A. bombi, using specific primers.

#### 1.4.3 Virulence and effects

*A. bombi* has been found to be more virulent than previously thought. It is a sublethal and lethal parasite that causes sucrose sensitivity and a lower lipid/body mass ratio in bumblebees (Rutrecht and Brown 2008). The parasite replicates in the fat body tissues, and the destruction of this essential tissue can negatively affect the health of the insect host (Rutrecht and Brown 2008; Arrese and Soulages 2010). *A. bombi* reduces the lifespan of the solitary bee *Osmia bicornis* (Tian *et al*, 2018). In a study by Graystock *et al*, (2016b), *Bombus terrestris* exposed to *A. bombi* had a mortality rate of 22%.

Individual pollinators can contract multiple parasite species from their natural environment. The virulence of *A. bombi* can be affected by other pathogens in the environment. Founding *Bombus hypnorum* queens infected with *A. bombi* and *Sphaerularia bombi* had a significantly lower life span and a decreased chance of founding a colony, compared to when they were just infected with *A. bombi* (Jones and Brown 2014). This is supported by Graystock *et al* (2016b), who found that *B. terrestris* suffered significantly higher mortality rates when infected with both *A. bombi* and DWV than when just infected by one of the pathogens.

#### 1.4.4 Microbiota

In *B. terrestris*, there is a clear inverse relationship between the presence of *A. bombi* and the abundance and diversity of the host's gut microbiota (Parmentier *et al*, 2018). This could be because *A. bombi* might change the microbiota environment when infecting its host, improving its own chances of survival and colonization. As the parasite migrates from the gut into the fat body via the gut wall, it may create opportunities for bacteria to translocate from one tissue to another. Alternatively, this relationship could reflect that a diverse gut microbiota is a hos-

tile environment for *A. bombi*, and so the parasite is unable to colonise individuals with diverse gut flora. Either way, the microbial structure is an influential element for the success of infection by pathogens, as has been demonstrated in the bumblebee parasite *Crithidia bombi* and *Paenibacillus larvae* in honeybees (Koch and SchmidHempel 2011; Vasquez *et al*, 2012). This could have major implications in areas where antibiotics are used on crops, as the interaction between the host and its microbiota is critical to nutrient provisioning, immune responses, and pathogen protection (Koch and SchmidHempel 2011; Engel and Moran 2013).

#### 1.4.5 Consequences

Overall, *A. bombi* has the potential to be a highly virulent, multi-host parasite, and could be a contributing factor to global pollinator declines. Due to viable infective oocysts of *A. bombi* being found in pollen collected by honeybees (Graystock *et al*, 2016a: Pereira *et al*, 2019), it is likely that *A. bombi* could spread to other pollinator species through honeybees dispersing *A. bombi*, contaminating shared flower resources. It is possible that *A. bombi* cannot replicate in *A. mellifera*, as it has been observed that the oocysts are non-viable or immature in some *A. mellifera* gut samples (pers comm Santiago Plischuk), however a more recent study has found mature oocysts in *A. mellifera* samples (Schilz *et al*, 2019). If *A. bombi* becomes viable in *A. mellifera*, then this parasite could further contribute to colony collapses around the world, lowering pollination and honey production, causing damage to the economy.

#### 1.4.6 Preliminary work on A. bombi

Two recent field studies (Pascall *et al*, in prep, Manley *et al*, in prep) indicate that *A. bombi* could be highly prevalent both in bumblebees and honeybees in the UK. Pascall *et al*, studied the effect of pesticide exposure on parasite accumulation in *B. terrestris*. 20 parasite-free colonies of *B. terrestris* were reared in the lab-



Figure 1.1: Mean prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* in experimental hives, control *B. terrestris* (a) and pesticide exposed *B. terrestris* (b), background bumblebee (c) and honeybee (d) populations surrounding the experimental hives over the course of 8 weeks. Each time point is two weeks apart. Pascall *et al*, in prep

oratory, and half were exposed to the pesticide clothianidin. Colonies were then placed in semi urban field sites for 8 weeks, and the accumulation of gut parasites was recorded throughout this time. This study showed that throughout the summer the experimental *B. terrestris* hives steadily increased in *A. bombi* prevalence, and by the eighth week in the field the parasite reached 30% prevalence in pesticide exposed colonies and 12% in control colonies (figure 1.1). This large difference in *A. bombi* prevalence shows that stressors such as pesticides acting on bee populations could have negative implications on pathogen acquisition. In the wild bumblebee population in this study, the average *A. bombi* prevalence increased from 10% to 30% over the two months (June - July). In foraging honeybees the prevalence of *A. bombi* in honeybees. Due to this high prevalence further research was carried out to confirm the prevalence of this parasite in UK populations.

Data from Manley *et al* (in prep) illustrates the wide variety of host species infected with *A. bombi* as this study drew on over 8,000 pollinator samples taken from a range of species from 10 sites in the South of England. *A. bombi* prevalence in pollinators varied drastically between species, with prevalence being highest in *A. mellifera* (52%±17s.e.). This high prevalence confirmed the findings in the previous study (Pascall *et al*, in prep) and the need for further investigation of *A. bombi* in *A. mellifera*. Within bumblebee species, average prevalence varied between 14%±3 to 40%±7. *A. bombi* was also found in some pollinating fly species such as yellow dung fly (*Scathophaga stercoraria*) and hover-fly species (*Syrphidae*) with average prevalence of 50%±4 and 20%±9 respectively. In solitary bees average prevalence was 16%±11 and 16%±7 for *Andrena* species and *Anthophora plumipes*, and 21%±12 for *Lasioglossum malachurum*. This was the first study to find *A. bombi* in species other than bees and shows the possibility of this parasite having wide impacts on pollinator communities.

Manley et al, (in prep) also tested how prevalence varied through time (fig-

ure 1.2). *A. bombi* prevalence increased from early spring to summer, and then dropped back down again in early spring the next year. This could be because when the bumblebee hives die in the winter, the parasite also diminishes in prevalence. More work is needed to track *A. bombi* prevalence in pollinator species throughout the year to see how the prevalence is affected by the decline of bumblebees in the autumn months.



Figure 1.2: The median prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* sampled over four time points (TP1 Early Spring 2016; TP2 Late Spring 2016; TP3 Summer 2016 and TP4 Spring 2017), averages from *A. mellifera* and the four most common UK *Bombus* species (*B. terrestris*, *B. lapidarius*, *B. pascuorum* and *B. hortorum*) have been compiled together. Box = 25th and 75th percentiles, bars = min and max values. Data is from Manley *et al* in prep.

### 1.5 Aims of this thesis

It is becoming increasingly clear that *A. bombi* could reduce bee health and pose an additional threat to bee populations. To increase our understanding of *A. bombi* prevalence and transmission potential within and between bee species, I firstly studied the prevalence of this parasite in island and mainland populations of wild bumblebees and managed honeybees (Chapter 2). To investigate the potential for transmission within honeybees, I studied prevalence within honeybee hives (Chapter 3).

Chapter two will focus on the prevalence of *A. bombi* on island sites compared to mainland sites, within different host species. The natural barrier of the ocean between island and mainland sites should impede the spread of pathogens from the mainland, and so island populations should exhibit less infections. It is expected that different species of bumblebees will have differing prevalences of *A. bombi*, due to traits that give the species different resistances as found in previous studies (Jones and Brown 2014, see table 1.2).

Due to the high prevalence of *A. bombi* found in foraging honeybees, chapter three will concentrate on the prevalence of *A. bombi* in *Apis mellifera* hives. Investigating if *A. bombi* can be transmitted to other members within the hive who do not have direct contact with infected bumblebee species. If *A. bombi* is found within other hive members this would show that the parasite can be transmitted via forager honeybees, through factors such as contaminated food or faeces.

# **Chapter 2**

The prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* across island and mainland sites in three study host species; *Bombus terrestris*, *Bombus pascuorum* and *Apis mellifera*.

## Abstract

In general, islands tend to have fewer pathogens than nearby mainland sites, because the sea acts as a natural barrier preventing pathogen spread. However we are unsure if this is true of bee pathogens as human agricultural practices in managed pollinators might help pathogens jump these natural barriers. To confirm whether this holds true for bee pathogens, this chapter quantified the prevalence of A. bombi in Bombus terrestris, Bombus pascuorum and Apis mellifera across island and mainland sites around the UK and France. The study sites comprised of five mainland sites, and seven island sites which were within 130km of the nearest mainland. The prevalence of A. bombi in B. terrestris and B. pascuorum populations was significantly lower in island populations  $(41\%\pm3 \text{ s.e. and } 30\%\pm3)$ compared to mainland populations (65%±7 and 65%±9), suggesting that natural barriers slow the spread of bee parasites. However, A. bombi prevalence in A. mellifera is similar in both island (65%±5) and mainland (63%±5) populations. This similarity in A. bombi prevalence across island and mainland populations can likely be explained by the global transportation of commercially valuable A. mellifera as crop pollinators and producers of honey. In this study we find higher prevalence of A. bombi across host species than previous studies in any bee species, and we see the difference in spatial dynamics in the prevalence of A. bombi across the host species. While A. bombi has negative effects on bumblebee hosts, the impacts of infection on honeybees are unknown, raising the question of whether the high A. bombi prevalence is of concern in these key pollinators.

## 2.1 Introduction

Theory predicts that islands have fewer pathogens compared to mainland areas with the same climate (Spurgin *et al*, 2012; Cashdan 2014; Millins *et al*, 2018). This is likely because islands are isolated by natural barriers, preventing pathogens originating from the mainland infecting island populations (Millins *et al*, 2018). Islands that are more isolated tend to contain fewer pathogens than less isolated islands, indicating that population, colonization and extinction are important in determining pathogen distribution (Spurgin *et al*, 2012). Human movement and trade helps pathogens spread across natural barriers. Islands with low human traffic have no detection or lower prevalences of Chytrid fungus compared to high traffic islands and nearby mainland sites (Stockwell *et al*, 2015). As a result, globalisation is facilitating the global spread of pathogens, and known diseases are emerging in new locations at an alarming rate (Tatem *et al*, 2006; O'dowd 2007).

Island geography also affects the spread of pathogens, for instance, pathogen species richness and prevalence increases with island size (Lindström *et al*, 2004; Bell *et al*, 2005; Orrock *et al*, 2011). On small islands, endemic species tend to have small population sizes and constricted distribution ranges (Pimm *et al*, 1988; Harris and Pimm 2008), and are therefore more likely to be driven to extinction by introduced pathogens (McCallum and Dobson 1995). Islands that are more isolated (due to increased distance from the nearest mainland) are more difficult for alien pathogen species to invade, and so are usually associated with a lower pathogen species richness (Jean *et al*, 2016). Additionally, the more isolated an island is, the greater the impact a new invading pathogen is likely to have (D'Antonio and Dudley 1995). This is because organisms native to isolated islands tend to be more immunologically naïve at an evolutionary level, and are particularly vulnerable to introduced pathogens (van Riper *et al*, 1986; Manne *et al*, 1999).

Humans that colonize islands not only act as vectors for pathogens, carrying

them on their domesticated livestock (Milberg and Tyrberg 1993; Wikelski *et al*, 2004; Gottdenker *et al*, 2005), but human activity on the island can also facilitate the rapid propagation of the pathogens they introduce. Grazing livestock and changes in land use, such as replacing natural landscapes with agricultural lands, can have drastic impacts on the natural landscape, which can exacerbate the spread of emerging infectious diseases (EIDs) (Carrete *et al*, 2009; McFarlane *et al*, 2013).

One way humans spread bee pathogens is through the increased trade of bee colonies for commercial pollination. This trade is facilitating the spread and introduction of bee pathogens around the world (De la Rúa *et al*, 2009; Genersch 2010; Forsgren *et al*, 2018), devastating immunologically naïve populations (Meeus *et al*, 2011). Pathogens of bees such as *Nosema sp*ecies and *Varroa* mites have been spread around the globe at an industrial scale (Chen *et al*, 2008; Wilfert *et al*, 2016) through anthropogenic means (Owen 2017).

It is particularly important that we understand how human activities promote the spread of diseases in bees as some population declines can be attributed to the introduction of new pathogens (Forsgren *et al*, 2018). Honeybees and bumblebees share a range of harmful pathogens (Furst *et al*, 2014), and the spillover of shared pathogens from commercial bee hives is likely to be a contributing factor to the recent and rapid decline of pollinators (Otterstatter and Thomson 2008; Manley *et al*, 2015). Deformed wing virus (DWV) is associated with high winter mortality of *Apis mellifera* colonies (Highfield *et al*, 2009). The spread of DWV has been caused by global trade (Wilfert *et al*, 2016). The prevalence of DWV and the gut parasite *Nosema ceranae* does not differ between island and mainland populations (Manley *et al*, 2019). This could be because both island and mainland sites have high rates of importing and exporting honeybee colonies.

Here, we investigated the bumblebee pathogen *Apicystis bombi*. *A. bombi* is a neogregarine parasite originally found in the fat tissue and gut of bumblebees (Lipa and Triggiani 1996). Recently, it has also been recorded in honeybees and many solitary bee species (Plischuk *et al*, 2017a; Ravoet *et al* 2014), and in some pollinating fly species such as *Scathophaga stercoraria* and *Syrphidae* (Manley *et al*, in prep). To test whether island populations show reduced parasite prevalence as expected by island biogeography, we measured the prevalence of *A. bombi* in honeybees and two bumblebee species collected from 5 populations in mainland France and England and 7 populations on islands off the coast of these two countries.

## 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Sample sites

Samples were taken from 12 island and mainland sites in England and France; island were located between 40-130km from the nearest mainland (see figure 2.1 and table 2.1). The sites included seven islands (Isle of Man (Douglas), Scilly Isles (St Mary's), Ushant and Alderney (St Anne), (Guernsey (St Peter Port), Jersey (St Helier) and Belle IIe (Le Palais) and five mainland sites (Liverpool, Penryn, Cherbourg, Le Conquet and Quiberon). Data collection took place in June and July 2015.

#### 2.2.2 Sample collection

Approximately 30 *A. mellifera*, 30 *B. pascuorum* and 60 *B. terrestris / lucorum* individuals from each site were collected (see table 2.1). *B. terrestris / lucorum* individuals were grouped together as they are cryptic species and cannot be identified apart without molecular screening. Bees were collected from a 1km<sup>2</sup> area within each site whilst foraging on flowers. Bees at each site were caught on the same day. Bees were only collected on days with a minimum temperature of 15°C and less than 80% cloud cover. Individual collecting tubes were used and samples were kept on ice, before sacrificing and storing them at -190°C in a dry



Figure 2.1: Map of study sites across the UK, France and Channel Islands. Marks with black squares are mainland (all of which are *Varroa* positive), marks with blue triangles are *Varroa* free islands, and marks with orange circles are *Varroa* positive islands.

Location/species	A. mellifera	B. terrestris	B. lucorum	B. pascuorum
Guernsey(St Peter Port)	22	45	15	32
Jersey(St Helier)	30	59	1	33
Alderney(St Anne)	30	57	3	30
Cherbourg(marina)	30	61	3	30
Ushant	30	13	2	29
Le Conquet, Brittany	33	59	2	19
Quiberon, Brittany	30	59	1	19
Belle Ile(Le Palais)	29	59	0	1
Penryn(University)	30	56	5	30
Isles of Scilly(St Mary's)	30	60	0	0
Liverpool	29	59	0	29
Isle of Man(Douglas)	32	53	5	29

Table 2.1: Total number of each bee species collected at each site.

shipper on the day of collection. For Belle IIe and Jersey, bees were sacrificed and stored in the dry shipper within 48 hours of collection. All samples were then stored at -80°C upon return to the laboratory.

#### 2.2.3 RNA isolation and RT-PCR

The gut from each individual was removed and macerated individually in 200µl of insect ringer solution. For individual RNA extractions, half the head and thorax of individuals (bisected laterally) and 80µl of the gut solution described above were pooled and extracted using Trizol© (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. Samples were homogenised with glass beads in 1.3ml Trizol© in a tissue-lyser. RNA was separated using bromo-chloropropane and precipitated in isopropanol. The RNA was washed with 75% ethanol and resuspended in 400µl diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC)-treated water. 2µl of RNA was converted into first-strand cDNA using GoScript™ Reverse Transcriptase, according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega), using random hexamer primers and RNasin® to prevent RNA degradation. Honeybee RNA was eluted in 100µl of RNase-free water and bumblebee RNA in 400µl to allow for variation in RNA pellet size between the species due to the bumblebee RNA pellets being bigger than the honeybee RNA pellets (Manley *et al*, 2019).

#### 2.2.4 Parasite detection

To determine *A. bombi* prevalence, cDNA also used for viral screening was diluted 1:10 prior to PCR. We designed species specific primers for *A. bombi* -A.bombi.18S.F and A.bombi.18S.R (table 2.2) – which unlike primers used in previous studies (Meeus *et al*, 2010; Marharramov *et al*, 2013) do not amplify other neogregarine species such as *Mattesia* species. These primers amplify a fragment of the 18S rRNA gene and can be used to amplify both cDNA and DNA samples. The PCR reaction mix contained 4µl of 5x GoTaq® Flexi buffer, 2µl of MgCl2, 4µl of dNTPs, 1µl of the forward and reverse primers, 0.2µl of GoTaq® Flexi DNA polymerase and 2µl of template DNA. The total reaction volume was 20µl made up with Milliq H2O. PCRs were performed in a thermocycler with an initial denaturing step of 94°C for 2 minutes, followed by 35 cycles of 30sec at 94°C, 30sec at 60.7°C, 60sec at 72°C, with a final extension step of 3 minutes at 72°C. The amplified products were then visualised with UV transilluminator on a 1.5% gel stained with RedSafe, running at 110V with a 50bp ladder. The positive bands were expected at 392bp.

Differentiation between the *B. terrestris/lucorum* species complex was performed via a DNA length polymorphism in the mitochondrial IGS region, using the primer pair BBMI\_IGSF1 and BBM1\_IGSR1 (pers comm Regula Schmid-Hempel: table 2.2).

#### 2.2.5 Sequencing

17 positive samples were randomly chosen from different sites and different species to verify that the new *A. bombi* primers were parasite specific in different host species. Samples were amplified using PCR and the A.bombi.18S primers. Samples were then PCR purified using the Promega PCR purification kits and sent to Eurofins for DNA sequencing. Sequences are on Genbank under the references MK491513 - MK491529. Sequences were individually manually inspected

Table 2.2: Primers used for the differentiation of Bombus terrestris and Bombu	IS
lucorum samples, and for the detection of Apicystis bombi.	

Target	Primer	Sequence	Amplification program	Am- plicon (bp)
B. ter-	BBM1-	GGAG-	95°C for 1 min; 38	ter: 180
restris/	IGSF-1	CAATAATTTCA	cycles (95°C for 15s,	
luco-		ATAAATAG.	55°C for 15s, 72°C for	
rum	BBM1-	AARTTCAAAG-	45s); 72°C for 7 min	luc: 210
com-	IGS-R	CAC-		
plex		TAATCTGC.		
Apicys-	Α.	TGATC-	94°C for 2 min; 35	392
tis	bombi.	CATAATAATT	cycles (94°C for 30s,	
bombi	18S.F	TTGT-	60.7°C for 30s, 72°C for	
		GAATCGCG.	60s); 72°C for 3 min	
	А.	AGTGCTAT-		
	bombi.	GTTTGTTTT-		
	18S.R	TAACGACA.		

in Geneious® (v.6.8)(https://www.geneious.com); each sequence matched that of the known *A. bombi* sequence with no variation between samples extracted from honeybees and bumblebees. The sequences were also significantly different from *Mattesia* sequences according to the BLAST threshold.

#### 2.2.6 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out in R (v3.4.1). *B. lucorum* samples were excluded from prevalence analyses because of low sample size (table 2.1). To examine whether *A. bombi* prevalence was affected by host species, *Varroa*-presence and island/mainland location, generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs) were used with binomial error distribution and logit link function, using the Ime4 package (v1.1-18) (Bates and Sarkar 2006). Full models included three-way interactions between the fixed effects *Varroa*-presence, host species (a factor with three levels: *A. mellifera*, *B. terrestris* and *B. pascuorum*) and island/mainland location (a factor with two levels: island and mainland), with sunshine hour duration as an additional fixed effect; field site and individual were included as random ef-
fects (individual was added to account for over-dispersion in the model (Harrison 2014)). Sunshine hours provided a proxy for favourable disease transmission conditions (Fürst *et al*, 2014) and were calculated as the mean sunshine hours from monthly data between March and July 2015 collected from MET office data and Meteo France (http://www.meteofrance.com/climat/france).

True prevalence with 95% confidence intervals was calculated to account for assay efficiency and sensitivity, which was conservatively set at 95% (Reiczigel *et al*, 2010) using R library epiR v.0.9-97 and the function epi.prev. Within the package, confidence intervals are calculated based on methods in Blaker (2000).

Backwards model simplification was used to find the minimum adequate model (MAM). The MAM was found through removal of non-significant terms and comparison of models using ANOVA, if the simplified model was not significantly different at p > 0.05 the term was removed from the model. To assess the full effect of the test predictors the MAM was compared with the null model (which only included random effects) using ANOVA. Residual plots were examined to assess model fit.

### 2.3 Results

An analysis was performed on the prevalence of *A. bombi* across 12 sites and 3 host species: *A. mellifera*, *B. pascuorum*, and *B. terrestris* (figure 2.2, figure 2.3). *A. bombi* prevalence in island populations was  $65\% \pm 4.9$  (n=208) for *A. mellifera*,  $30\% \pm 3$  (n=168) for *B. pascuorum* and  $41\% \pm 3.4$  (n=347) for *B. terrestris*. *A. bombi* prevalence in mainland populations was  $63\% \pm 5.4$  (n=149) for *A. mellifera*,  $65\% \pm 8.6$  (n=105) for *B. pascuorum*, and  $65\% \pm 6.8$  (n=293) for *B. terrestris*. The true prevalence of *A. bombi* across these sites for each species is shown in table 2.3, true prevalence takes into account for the change in variance that arises from imperfect test sensitivity and specificity (Reiczigel *et al*, 2010).

In a GLMM analysis, A. bombi prevalence is significantly affected by island/main-

Table 2.3: True prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* within different species at either mainland or island sites detected using PCR (primer details table 2.2). True prevalence was calculated using the function epi.prev within epiR in R. *B. lucorum* is excluded from prevalence analyses because of low sample size.

Species	Island/Mainland	True prevalence measurements (%)		
		True Prevalence	Lower	Upper
Apis	Island (n=208)	68	60	75
mellifera	Mainland (n=149)	64	55	72
Bombus	Island (n=346)	41	36	48
terrestris	Mainland (n=294)	67	60	73
Bombus	Island (n=168)	28	20	36
pascuorum	Mainland (n=105)	63	52	74

land location (estimate  $\pm$  s.e. of the fixed factor 'island' in the model = -0.78  $\pm$  0.41, p = 0.04, table 2.4, prevalence is always reports with  $\pm$  s.e.). There was a significant interaction between species and location, affecting *A. bombi* prevalence (ANOVA:  $X^2 = 8.71_2$ , p = 0.01). This suggests that the three host species have a different relationship to *A. bombi* prevalence depending on whether populations are located on an island or the mainland, as shown in fig 2.3 and illustrated in fig 2.2. This significant interaction reflects a higher proportion of *A. bombi* prevalence in mainland *Bombus* populations than island *Bombus* populations, while this difference is not found in *Apis* populations (figure 2.3).

In mainland populations, prevalence was approximately 65% for all species (*A. mellifera*: 63%±5.4 (n=149), *B. pascuorum*: 65%±8.6 (n=105), *B. terrestris*: 65%±6.8 (n=293). These three mainland prevalences are not significantly different (test of proportions;  $X^2 = 1.88_2$ , p = 0.39).

Island *A. mellifera* maintained similar levels of prevalence (65%±4.9 (n=208)) to mainland populations of the same species. However, island prevalence in *B. pascuorum* decreased to 30%±3 (n=168), a significant difference from mainland *B. pascuorum* (test of proportions;  $X^2 = 26.1$ , p < 0.001). Similarly, prevalence in *B. terrestris* decreased to 41%±3.4 (n=347), a significant difference from mainland *B. terrestris* (test of proportions;  $X^2 = 57.24$ , p < 0.001). The prevalence of *A. bombi* in island *A. mellifera* is significantly higher than island *bombus* species (test of



Figure 2.2: Prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* mapped by location, host species (*A. mellifera*, *B. pascuorum* and *B. terrestris*) and island/mainland status. Island sites are blue, mainland sites are black. Prevalence at each site is shown by size of circle, the larger the circle the higher the prevalence.



Figure 2.3: Prevalence of *A. bombi* in the three host species at island or mainland sites.

proportions;  $X^2 = 10.94$ , p < 0.001).

As expected, *Varroa* presence was not a significant predictor of *A. bombi* prevalence (GLMM: estimate  $\pm$  s.e. of the fixed factor '*Varroa* presence' in the model = -0.237  $\pm$  0.51, *p* = 0.642). *Varroa* presence also had no significant contribution to the GLMM model, (anova:  $X^2 = 0.215_1$ , *p* = 0.643) and was therefore removed from the model. Sunshine hours did not significantly contribute to the model either and was removed (anova:  $X^2 = 0.3972_1$ , *p* = 0.5285).

The full model for *A. bombi* prevalence fitted the data significantly better than the null model with only random factors included (anova:  $X^2 = 20.33_5$ , *p* < 0.001, table 2.4).

Table 2.4: To better understand the interaction between location and species, island and mainland populations were analysed separately. Minimum Adequate Model explaining *A. bombi* prevalence using GLMMs with binomial error structure and logit function. Top model is with the interaction and bottom model is without.

Parameters(predictors)	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	P-value
(Intercept)	0.611	0.368	1.661	0.097
B. pascuorum	-0.096	0.406	-0.235	0.814
B. terrestris	0.169	0.342	0.495	0.621
island/mainland	0.101	0.481	0.210	0.834
B. pascuorum:island/mainland	-1.373	0.523	-2.625	0.009
B. terrestris:island/mainland	-1.249	0.448	-2.785	0.005
(Intercept)	1.137	0.352	3.235	0.001
B. pascuorum	-0.934	0.296	-3.150	0.002
B. terrestris	-0.568	0.266	-2.135	0.033
island/mainland	-0.775	0.409	-1.895	0.043

### 2.4 Discussion

In this study we compared the prevalence of *A. bombi* in island and mainland sites, to test the hypothesis that sites with a large natural barrier have lower pathogen prevalences. Prevalence of *A. bombi* was significantly lower in island populations of *B. terrestris* (41%±3.4) and *B. pascuorum* (30%±3) compared to mainland populations ( $65\%\pm6.8$  and  $65\%\pm8.6$ ) (figure 2.3). However, *A. bombi* prevalence does not significantly differ between island ( $65\%\pm4.9$ ) and mainland ( $63\%\pm5.4$ ) populations in the host species *Apis mellifera*. Across the mainland sites the average prevalence of *A. bombi* were not significantly different between the host species, varying from 63-65%. On island sites *A. mellifera* had a significantly higher prevalence of *A. bombi* compared to the *Bombus* species.

The prevalences of *A. bombi* we find in this study are much higher than those previously reported in the literature (table 1.2), with record highs being reported in *B. pascuorum* at around 48% in the Netherlands (Piot *et al*, 2019). The high prevalences we find in *A. mellifera* have never been reported before, with the highest previous records only reaching 17% (Plischuk *et al*, 2017a). In fact, prevalence of this parasite is thought to be so low that it is seldom screened for in bee gut parasite studies. However, these results show that prevalence is much higher than

previously thought, especially in *A. mellifera*. The sequenced region of 18S DNA of *A. bombi* was identical across pollinator hosts and sites, showing that they are carrying the same haplotype of *A. bombi*.

While we detected *A. bombi* at a particularly high prevalence in *A. mellifera*, it remains unclear if *A. mellifera* is a suitable host for *A. bombi*. *A. mellifera* may only be filling the role of a vector for *A. bombi* (Graystock *et al*, 2015). For example, previous work has shown that while *A. mellifera* may play a role as a passive vector, it is not a suitable host for the bumblebee parasite *Crithidia bombi* (Ruiz-Gonzalez and Brown 2006). However, Piot *et al* (2019) found that *A. mellifera* prevalence in *Bombus* species, supporting the idea that *A. mellifera* is an efficient vector species.

In bumblebees *A. bombi* infection causes sucrose sensitivity and reduced fat body size (Graystock *et al*, 2016b). When infected with other pathogens alongside *A. bombi*, bumblebees exhibit higher mortality rates (Graystock *et al*, 2016b). However, it is unknown if *A. bombi* has negative fitness costs for honeybees. To determine whether *A. bombi* can infect honeybees and whether these infections cause negative fitness effects needs to be addressed by experimental infection assays.

The large bodies of water between islands and the mainland may prevent pollinators from spreading disease from the mainland to the islands. We find general support for the hypothesis that water acts as a natural barrier protecting island bee populations from pathogens, but there is some evidence that human activities can help pathogens jump these natural barriers. We find an island effect for the wild *Bombus* species, with island populations exhibiting a significantly lower prevalence of *A. bombi* than mainland populations. However *A. mellifera* populations did not show this pattern. The high prevalence of *A. bombi* in *A. mellifera* in both mainland and island populations could be due to anthropogenic movement of *A. mellifera*. *A. bombi* is not the only bee pathogen that does not show an island effect in the host *A. mellifera*, it has also been shown in a few other pathogens

#### (Manley *et al*, 2019).

Commercially traded *A. mellifera* colonies are not screened for *A. bombi* as it is not considered as a serious affliction for honeybees. However, the trade of *A. mellifera* could facilitate the spread of *A. bombi* to more *A. mellifera* hives around the world and potentially spill back over into the surrounding bumblebee species. The global prevalence of *A. bombi* as reported in the literature appears to be increasing (table 1.2), which could be due to either an actual increased prevalence or a higher rate of successful detection due to improved screening protocols, moving from microscopy to specific molecular detection.

The high prevalences of *A. bombi* reported in *A. mellifera* pose new research questions which require attention. Are honeybee foragers only carrying *A. bombi* or are they spreading the parasite within their hives? How is the prevalence of *A. bombi* in an *A. mellifera* hive distributed, and can *A. bombi* infect and replicate within *A. mellifera*? Additional research is needed to prevent the further spread of *A. bombi* in honeybees and bumblebees.

## **Chapter 3**

The prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* in three different life stages of *Apis mellifera*.

### Abstract

Honeybees are the most managed pollinator species, and are experiencing ever increasing annual mortality rates. This is due to many interacting factors such as climate change, pesticides and pathogens. One factor that may play an important causal role in these declines is parasitism. Emerging parasites pose a particular challenge to bee species as they can be spread all over the world infecting native populations of bees. Previous research revealed very high prevalences of the potentially harmful parasite Apicystis bombi in Apis mellifera foragers. However it is not clear whether A. mellifera is acting as a host or a vector. To answer this this question, we examined whether A. bombi is potentially being spread by infected honeybees to other hive members. Capped larvae, adult nurse bees and adult foragers were sampled from 14 hives around West Cornwall (UK), and screened for the parasite A. bombi. A. bombi had high, and previously unreported, prevalences in larvae (59%±10 s.e.), with significantly lower prevalences in nurse bees (23%±12), and increased prevalences in forager bees (63%±15). The lower prevalences in the nurse bees could be due to high mortality rates in infected larvae. An alternative explanation is that the parasites are expelled with the gut lining as the larvae pupates. The high prevalence in foragers is most likely caused by these bees becoming infested with A. bombi as they explore their surrounding environment. The high prevalence in larvae suggests that honeybees can indeed transmit the parasite to conspecifics.

### 3.1 Introduction

Honeybees have three castes (queen, worker and drone) that all go through 4 distinctly different developmental stages during their holometabolous life cycle; egg, larvae, pupa and adult (Winston 1987). The honeybee life cycle begins when an egg is laid by the queen in a brood cell, where it develops into a larvae. Larvae undergo 5 moults, during which the gut linings are shed each time (Winston 1987). The larvae are then enclosed inside their brood cell by adult worker bees to pupate, a lifestage usually referred to as capped brood. During the pupal stage the larval midgut is completely restructured around the larval gut as the pupae metamorphose into adult bees (Braun et al, 2010). Adult worker bees then emerge and stay in the hive, tending to the developing brood for around 2-3 weeks. These bees are referred to as nurse bees. After the first few weeks in the hive, the nurse bees transition to foragers and leave the hive to forage for nectar and pollen. These bees are referred to as foragers (Winston 1987). This variation within hive tasks as a function of age is referred to as age-polyethism. A consequence of agepolyethism is that honeybees may be exposed to different pathogens as they grow older, and that their physiological potential to become infected and pathogens may change with age.

Developmental life stages in insects can differ drastically in their physiology and chemistry, creating different environments for pathogens. Holometabolous insects have distinctly different larval and adult stages, linked by total metamorphosis (Anderson 1972). Some pathogens can maintain infections through multiple life stages, being acquired during one stage and transmitted through the moult and metamorphosis to the next life stage. This is called transstadial transmission (Reisen 2002). A pathogen that can infect the larval stage may not be able to infect the adult stage.

Ticks vector the bacterium *Borrelia burgdorferi*. During a tick's early life it acquires the pathogen, which travels to the salivary gland where it stays while the tick moults. The bacterium needs to survive moulting events to be passed onto subsequent hosts (Kurtenbach *et al*, 2006). These stages do not differ greatly between each moult in ticks and other arachnid vectors, However in holometabolous insects the developmental stages vary in morphology considerably. Transstadial transmission of pathogens is not well recorded for hosts that undergo complete metamorphosis.

There are a few examples of pathogens being able to transstadially transmit in holometabolous insects (Agnew *et al*, 1999; Brown *et al*, 2018; Duneau and Lazzaro 2018), such as the deformed wing virus (DWV) in bees (Annoscia *et al*, 2018). In this case, bee pupae become infected with DWV, and the virus is able to pass into the adult stage, sometimes causing wing deformities (Schroeder and Martin 2012).

However there are also studies showing the transstadial blockage of a pathogen passing from the larval stage to the adult stage (Washburn *et al*, 1995; Braun *et al*, 2010; Davies *et al*, 2017). An example of this is *Paenibacillus larvae* (American foulbrood) which can only infect honeybee larvae (Wilson 1971). Brown *et al* (2018) showed that the prevalence and intensity of an infection differs with developmental stage and age. As the insect moulted and metamorphosed the prevalence of infection decreased, suggesting that transstadial transmission is rare.

The larvae of honeybees are well equipped to cope with infections as they are exposed to pathogens constantly through feeding or external injury (Randolt *et al*, 2008). In contrast, the following developmental stage, pupa, are less prepared for infections. Before the larvae are encased in the brood cell they defecate, this typically removes any ingested intestinal pathogens (Gilliam and Prest 1987). The larvae are then in the protected environment of the brood cell to pupate, where pathogens usually cannot enter. Due to the high costs of metamorphosis, the immune defences of capped brood are lower than that of uncapped brood (Laughton *et al*, 2011). In a study where the pupae of honeybees were infected with *E. coli*,

they were incapable of activating an immune response, whereas uncapped larvae could (Gätschenberger *et al*, 2013).

Honeybee immune defenses generally increase over age, younger honeybee larvae (24 hours old) are more susceptible to infections from *P. larvae* than older larvae (72 hours old) (Brødsgaard *et al*, 1998). Larvae have lower immunity than adult bees (Wilson-Rich, *et al* 2008). Younger adult bees (nurse bees) have lower immunocompetence than older foraging bees (Laughton *et al*, 2011). These differences may be explained by foraging bees potential need for stronger immune system, as they are constantly exposed to pathogens while foraging on flowers.

It is important that we understand honeybee pathogens because these insects essential for crop pollination are at high risk of infection with emerging diseases. In some countries, beekeepers transport their bees thousands of miles specifically to pollinate certain crops (Phillips 2014). This increased anthropogenic movement of bees increases the exposure of colonies to diseases (Goulson and Hughes 2015). Honeybees are constantly interacting with different pathogens from other pollinators due to shared flowers (Graystock *et al*, 2015). It has been shown that some honeybee pathogens spill-over to *Bombus* species hosts (Genersch *et al*, 2006; Plischuk *et al*, 2009; Fürst *et al*, 2014; Manley *et al*, 2019), however there are fewer documented cases of *Bombus* pathogens spilling-over to honeybee hosts. Nonetheless one *Bombus* parasite seems to be doing this. *Apicystis bombi* is highly prevalent in *Bombus* species in the UK and it has only recently been found to be prevalent in *A. mellifera* (Graystock *et al*, 2013; Chapter 1 results). Due to the seemingly increasing high prevalences and spread of *A. bombi* in *A. mellifera* samples it is possible that *A. mellifera* is a spill-over host (Plischuk *et al*, 2011).

Pollen collected by honeybees is a probable source of infective pathogens. Graystock *et al* (2016a) found a diverse range of pathogens in the pollen collected by honeybees, all of which could still infect *B. terrestris* workers. After treating the pollen with gamma irradiation most pathogens could not infect *B. terrestris*, however *A. bombi* was the exception (Graystock *et al*, 2016a). Viable infective oocysts of *A. bombi* have been found in honeybee collected pollen (Pereira *et al*, 2019; Graystock *et al*, 2016a). Pereira and colleagues (2019) found 53% of honeybee collected pollen was positive for *A. bombi*. Commercially sold pollen could become a possible mechanism for the spread of *A. bombi* even if the pollen has been cleaned using radiation.

*A. bombi* has only recently been detected in South America, Africa and Asia in honeybees (table 1.2). In Argentina the prevalence of *A. bombi* in *A. mellifera* is increasing, in the span of 8 years the prevalence has doubled, from 7% to 14% (Plischuk *et al*, 2017a). Mature *A. bombi* oocysts were found in *A. mellifera* in Poland (Schulz *et al*, 2019) possibly demonstrating that *A. bombi* can reproduce in *A. mellifera*. *A. mellifera* may experience *A. bombi* jumping host due to their close proximity to the natural *Bombus* hosts.

After finding *A. bombi* in a large percentage of the samples of *A. mellifera* in chapter 2, it was important to investigate whether *A. bombi* could be found within a hive and not just foraging *A. mellifera*. We investigated whether the foragers could potentially pass *A. bombi* to nest mates. There are currently no studies on the distribution of *A. bombi* in the different life stages of *A. mellifera* within a hive.

In this study, capped larvae, nurse bees and foragers were sampled from 14 hives from 4 apiaries in West Cornwall (UK). We expected that *A. mellifera* life stages would differ in *A. bombi* prevalence. Given age-associated changes in immune function, we expected that the larvae will have high levels of *A. bombi* due to contaminated food sources. Capped brood should be able to remove the parasite through defecation, however if the parasite had moved out of the intestinal tract and into another part of the body then high prevalences would be observed. If *A. bombi* cannot transstadially transmit or causes high mortality, then it would be expected that the nurse bees would show much lower prevalences of *A. bombi* compared to the larvae. Due to foragers sharing flower sources with *Bombus* species, the natural *A. bombi* host, it is expected that they will have similar *A. bombi* prevalences to the background *Bombus* species.

3.1. INTRODUCTION

### 3.2 Methods

#### 3.2.1 Sample sites

To measure the prevalence of *A. bombi* in managed *Apis mellifera* colonies, 4 apiaries in West Cornwall (UK) were used. 14 colonies were selected from the apiaries (figure 3.1), only strong colonies that had been established for over a year were chosen. Only apiaries using the same maintenance chemicals (Oxalic acid and Apiguard) were selected so as not to bias the results. All apiaries were at least 4.5 miles from each other with a maximum distance of 12 miles, reducing any risks of the bees from one apiary coming into contact with bees from another apiary (Danner *et al*, 2016).



Figure 3.1: Map of apiaries in West Cornwall, UK, where *Apis mellifera* samples were collected. Yellow hexagons represent the location of each apiary, numbers next to the yellow hexagons refer to the apiary identity. Pale blue circles are the locations of Cornish towns.

#### 3.2.2 Sample collection

To test for a difference in prevalence across three distinct honeybee life stages (capped larvae, nurse and forager), 30 individuals from each stage from each hive were collected (foragers=420, nurse=420, capped larvae=408) (see table 3.1). To get a rough proxy of the background prevalence of *A. bombi*, opportunistically sampled foraging bumblebee workers were taken, according to the local species composition (refer to supplementary material 5.1). 20-30 bumblebee individuals from the surrounding area (<0.5mile radius) were collected at three of the four apiaries (apiary 1 n = 30, apiary 3 n = 20, apiary 4 n = 30); because of poor weather conditions, it was not possible to collect bumblebees at apiary 2. Bumblebees were caught on nearby flowers, individually stored in plastic containers.

Table 3.1: Total number of samples collected from each hive for each life stage. Prevalence of *A. bombi* as a percentage for each of the life stages within each hive is also shown.

Hive	Apiary	Number of samples			Prevalence (%)		
Identity	Identity	Larvae	Nurse	Forager	Larvae	Nurse	Forager
1	1	20	30	30	75	3	10
2	1	28	30	30	32	7	23
3	2	30	30	30	43	17	57
4	2	30	30	30	77	27	90
5	2	30	30	30	70	47	83
6	2	30	30	30	53	67	43
7	3	30	30	30	70	23	70
8	3	30	30	30	60	3	83
9	3	30	30	30	43	3	77
10	4	30	30	30	40	23	90
11	4	30	30	30	47	7	37
12	4	30	30	30	53	3	60
13	4	30	30	30	83	50	60
14	4	30	30	30	87	37	93

A custom made insect hoover was used to remove adult honeybees from the hive. Foragers were caught coming back to the hive by blocking the entrance and any honeybees crawling/flying around the entrance were collected. To collect nurse bees, frames were removed from the hive, and given 2-3 sudden shakes to remove the males and foragers (Pickard and Kither 1983). Once nurses and for-

agers were collected, they were anaesthetized with a short puff of  $CO_2$  and transferred to small plastic boxes corresponding to their hive and life stage. Between each hive collection, the collection capsules were changed, between each nurse and forager collection within the same hive the collection capsules were cleaned with 100% ethanol. Larvae in capped brood cells were collected by using forceps to open individual brood cells and remove the larvae, they were then placed in individual 1.5ml collection tubes. Samples were transferred to the laboratory in a cool bag, where they were immediately sacrificed at -80°C.

#### 3.2.3 Extractions

#### **Gut extraction**

The gut and abdominal fat body were extracted from each bee and deposited into a 1.5ml tube with 100µl of Phosphate-buffered saline and crushed with a pestle to release parasite DNA from the tissues.

#### **DNA** extraction

 $20\mu$ l of homogenized gut,  $100\mu$ l of 10% Chelex-100 Resin and  $2\mu$ l of proteinase K (20 mg/ml) was pipetted into each well of a deep-well plate. The plate was vortexed thoroughly for 1 minute. The plate was then placed in the  $56^{\circ}$ C water bath for 1 hour, with a 30 second vortex in-between. The plate was then put into the  $95^{\circ}$ C water bath for 15 minutes to deactivate the proteinase K. The plate was centrifuged for 30 seconds and kept at - $20^{\circ}$ C.

#### 3.2.4 Apicystis bombi detection

*A. bombi* was detected by PCR using the oligonucleotide primers A.bombi.18S.F and A.bombi.18S.R in table 2.2. For the detection of *A. bombi*, each PCR reaction mix contained 4µl of 5x GoTaq® Flexi buffer; 2µl of MGCl2 (25mM); 4µl

of dNTPs (2mM); 1µl of the forward and reverse primers; 0.2µl of GoTaq® Flexi DNA polymerase and 2µl of template. All reaction mixtures were made up to 20µl volume with ddH2O. Amplification was carried out on an Applied Biosystems Veriti Thermocycler and steps for the thermocycler sequence is shown in table 2.2. PCR products were resolved on a 1.5% agarose gel stained with redsafe at 110V for 35 minutes, and photographed with a UV transilluminator with a 50 base pair ladder. Primers were species specific as verified by Sanger sequencing (Chapter 2).

#### 3.2.5 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out in R (v3.4.1). To examine if *A. bombi* prevalence was affected by honeybee life stage and apiary, generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs) were used with binomial error distribution and logit link function, using the Ime4 package (v1.1-18) (Bates and Sarkar 2006). Full models included two-way interactions between the fixed effects apiary (n=4) and honeybee life stage (a factor with three levels: capped larvae, nurse and forager), hive identity (n=14) and individual were included as random effects (individual was added to account for over-dispersion in the model (Harrison 2014)).

Backwards model simplification was used to identify the minimum adequate model (MAM). The MAM was found through removal of non-significant terms and comparison of models using anova – if the simplified model was not significantly different at p > 0.05 the term was removed from the model. To assess the full effect of the test predictors the MAM was compared with the null model (which only included random effects) using anova. Residual plots were examined to assess model fit.

True prevalence with 95% confidence intervals was calculated to account for assay efficiency and sensitivity, which was conservatively set at 95% (Reiczigel *et al.* 2010) using R library epiR v.0.9-97 and the function epi.prev. Within the

package, confidence intervals are calculated based on methods in Blaker (2000).

### 3.3 Results

*A. bombi* prevalence in honeybees across 14 hives within 4 different apiaries was analysed to test if prevalence differed according to life stage, illustrated by fig 3.2. Note that the background bumblebee prevalence is not significantly different from the forager prevalence (test of proportions:  $X^2 = 1.28$ , p = 0.26). The true prevalence of *A. bombi* across these sites for each lifestage is shown in table 3.2, this takes into account for the change in variance that arises from imperfect test sensitivity and specificity (Reiczigel *et al*, 2010).

Table 3.2:	True prevalence (prev) of Apicystis bombi within different life stages in
each hive,	detected using PCR (primer details table 2.2). True prevalence was
calculated	using the function epi.prev within epiR in R.

Hive	Larva	e True P	rev (%)	Nurse	e True Pr	rev (%)	Forag	er True F	Prev (%)
Identity	Prev	Upper	Lower	Prev	Upper	Lower	Prev	Upper	Lower
1	77.8	52.6	89.6	0	0	12.5	5.6	0	23.3
2	30.2	13.3	52.1	1.9	0	17.7	20.4	6.3	40.5
3	42.6	23.3	63.4	13	2	32.8	57.4	36.6	63.4
4	79.6	59.5	93.8	24.1	9	44.3	94.4	76.7	100
5	72.2	51.9	88	46.3	27.2	67.2	87	67.2	98
6	53.7	32.8	72.8	68.5	48.1	86.1	42.6	23.3	63.4
7	72.2	51.9	88	20.4	6.3	40.5	72.2	51.9	88
8	61.1	40.5	79.3	0	0	12.5	87	67.2	98
9	42.6	23.3	63.4	0	0	12.5	79.6	59.5	93.8
10	38.9	20.7	59.5	20.4	6.3	40.5	94.4	76.7	100
11	46.3	27.2	67.2	1.9	0	17.7	35.2	17.7	55.7
12	53.7	32.8	72.8	0	0	12.5	61.1	40.5	79.3
13	87	67.2	98	50	30.5	69.6	61.1	40.5	79.3
14	90.7	72.8	100	35.2	17.7	55.7	98.2	82.3	100

Honeybee life stage significantly influenced *A. bombi* prevalence (table 3.3) and was a significant contributor to the model (anova:  $X^2 = 29.3922$ , p < 0.001). Apiary was also a significant contributor to the model (anova:  $X^2 = 8.19993$ , p = 0.04206). There is evidence that the honeybees at different apiaries may have different distributions of *A. bombi* infection across life stages, as the interaction



Figure 3.2: Prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* in three life stages of honeybee and the background *Bombus* populations.

between honeybee life stage and apiary also significantly contributed to the model (anova:  $X^2 = 13.2816$ , p = 0.03878). The full model for *A. bombi* prevalence (table 3.3) fitted the data significantly better than the null model with only random factors included (anova:  $X^2 = 49_{11}$ , p < 0.001).

Table 3.3: Minimum Adequate Model explaining *A. bombi* prevalence within the three different honeybee life stages using GLMMs with binomial error structure and logit function.

Parameters(predictors)	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	P-value
(Intercept)	1.2337	0.5071	2.433	0.014976
life stage larvae	-1.1152	0.6004	-1.858	0.063234
life stage nurse	-3.6707	0.6873	-5.341	9.25e-08
apiary2	-2.9242	0.8218	-3.558	0.000373
apiary3	-0.3433	0.6692	-0.513	0.607991
apiary4	-0.3249	0.6419	-0.506	0.612751
life stage larvae:apiary2	2.9210	0.9826	2.973	0.002951
life stage nurse:apiary2	2.2806	1.1621	1.962	0.049713
life stage larvae:apiary3	0.7023	0.7963	0.882	0.377798
life stage nurse:apiary3	2.2806	0.8634	2.641	0.008260
life stage larvae:apiary4	0.7912	0.7647	1.035	0.300843
life stage nurse:apiary4	1.3850	0.8421	1.645	0.100047

#### **Overall interaction of life stages**

The differences of *A. bombi* prevalence in larval, nurse and forager life stages in association with apiary are shown in figure 3.3. For 3 out of the 4 apiaries nurse bees had a significantly lower prevalence of *A. bombi* than the larval and forager life stages (test of proportions using Benjamini-Hochberg correction (Benjamini and Hochberg 1995); Apiary 2:  $X^2 = 10.42$ , p = 0.001,  $X^2 = 19.38$ , p < 0.001. Apiary 3:  $X^2 = 43.74$ , p < 0.001,  $X^2 = 78.76$ , p < 0.001. Apiary 4:  $X^2 = 42.65$ , p < 0.001,  $X^2 = 56.70$ , p < 0.001). Apiary 1 was the exception to this, the forager prevalence was not significantly different from the nurse prevalence, both having a low prevalence (test of proportions;  $X^2 = 3.11$ , p = 0.078). The capped larvae from apiary 1 did follow the trend of the other apiaries with the larvae having a significantly higher prevalence than the nurse bees (test of proportions;  $X^2 = 26.45$ , p < 0.001).





The mean prevalence of A. bombi in capped larvae was 54%±21.4 (n=48),

61%±7.6 (n=120), 53%±8.6 (n=90) and 62%±9.6 (n=150) for apiaries 1, 2, 3, and 4 respectively. These prevalences were not significantly different from one another (test of proportions;  $X^2 = 2.38_3$ , p = 0.5).

The mean prevalence of *A. bombi* in nurse bees was  $5\%\pm1.7$  (n=60),  $39\%\pm11$  (n=120),  $10\%\pm6.7$  (n=90) and  $24\%\pm8.8$  (n=150) for apiaries 1, 2, 3 and 4 respectively. The prevalences in apiary 1 and 3 were not significantly different from each other (test of proportions;  $X^2 = 0.64$ , p = 0.42), whereas the prevalences in apiary 2 and 4 were significantly different from each other and apiaries 1 and 3 (test of proportions;  $X^2 = 37.77_3$ , p < 0.001).

The mean prevalence of *A. bombi* in foragers was 17%±6.7 (n=60), 68%±11 (n=120), 77%±3.8 (n=90) and 68%±10.5 (n=150) for apiaries 1, 2, 3 and 4 respectively. The prevalence in apiary 1 was significantly lower than the other three apiaries (test of proportions;  $X^2 = 65.24_3$ , p < 0.001). The prevalences in apiaries 2, 3, and 4 did not significantly differ from each other (test of proportions;  $X^2 = 2.35_3$ , p = 0.31).

### 3.4 Discussion

The prevalence of *Apicystis bombi* differs in the three life stages of the honeybee *Apis mellifera*. Prevalence in the first life stage (capped larvae) was similar across all the apiaries with a mean prevalence of  $58\%\pm4.8$  (mean  $\pm$  s.e.). In all apiaries the next life stage (nurses) was significantly lower than the capped larvae life stage, with a mean prevalence of  $23\%\pm5.5$ . The last life stage (forager) was significantly higher than in nurse bees and tended to be slightly higher than the larval stage in all but one of the apiaries ( $63\%\pm7$ ). The average background prevalence in *Bombus* species ( $70\%\pm3.6$ ) was similar to that of the *A. mellifera* forager average prevalence.

This work highlights the possible role of the life cycle of a host in the evolution of host-parasite interactions. Larvae of bees are non-motile, this means that pathogens infecting just larvae are unlikely to disperse to other colonies. Some pathogens such as *P. larvae* are able to vertically transmit through adult bees taking spores back to their colonies (Lindström *et al*, 2008). In the natural world the dispersal rate of this pathogen would be low, however due to anthropogenic factors colonies are in closer contact to each other, increasing dispersal (Fries *et al*, 2006). Pathogens of and vectored by adult flying insects tend to have a higher dispersal capability due to the distances these insects can travel (EI-Hamalawi 2008; Martini *et al*, 2015). If a pathogen has the ability to stay within a host throughout the larval stage and into the adult stage then it might increase its dispersal capability.

In this study capped larvae are significantly more infected than nurse bees. Other research has shown that the capped larvae have much lower immune defences compared to nurse bees (Laughton *et al*, 2011). This lowered immune system could be the reason for the very high prevalence. The significantly lower prevalence of *A. bombi* in the nurse bees compared to the capped larvae could be due to *A. bombi* causing high mortality rates so only capped larvae with no or small parasite loads survive to adulthood. However this is unlikely as there was no evidence of mass larval mortality in any of the sampled hives. The more likely answer is the larvae are shedding the parasite while pupating (Davies *et al*, 2017). This would need to be proven with further research. The large prevalence range within the different apiaries for the nurse prevalence could be due to differing immune responses within each hive. Some hives might be able to mount a stronger immune response compared to other hives.

Even though it has been shown that foraging bees tend to have a higher level of immune defence than nurse bees (Laughton *et al*, 2011), the foraging bees had a significantly higher prevalence of *A. bombi* compared to the nurse bees. The higher prevalence in foragers could be due to the foragers being in constant contact with *A. bombi* spores while foraging on flowers (Graystock *et al*, 2015). Even though foragers have a more active immune system (Laughton *et al*, 2011),

it is possible that A. bombi itself does not elicit an immune response.

The foragers in apiary 1 had a significantly lower prevalence of *A. bombi* compared to the other apiaries. This is despite the background prevalence in *Bombus* species being higher than around the other apiaries. This lower prevalence could be the result of genetic factors. These bees might have a particular strain of gut microbiota that helps protect them from *A. bombi* (Parmentier *et al*, 2018) or a genetically different innate immune system to the foragers from the other apiaries (Wilson-Rich *et al*, 2008). In addition to an innate immune system, bees have many different defence mechanisms against pathogens, such as removal of infected individuals from the hive, avoidance of infected individuals and grooming (Kurze *et al*, 2016). This social immunity contributes to the fitness of the hive. Hygienic behaviours such as diseased brood removal have a genetic basis (Conte *et al*, 2011) and the genes for these behaviours are favoured by selection (Harpur *et al*, 2019).

For a pathogen to survive metamorphosis and reach the host's adult stage, it must not kill the host during its development. In free flying insects such as bees, pathogens can be dispersed further in the adult stages compared to the larval life stages (El-Hamalawi 2008). It is advantageous to the pathogen for their dispersal if they can survive through to the adult stage of the host. Selection should favour low virulence in the larval host until they reach the adult host stage. However pathogens that are certain to be destroyed during metamorphosis might be more virulent during the larval stage. The spore-forming bacteria *Paenibacillus larvae* is an example of this pathogen life history. Only young honeybee larvae are susceptible to *P. larvae* (Yue *et al*, 2008). The pathogen is highly virulent and causes high mortality in larvae (Brødsgaard *et al*, 1998), and does not persist through to the honeybee adult stage. *A. bombi* could be using a similar life-history strategy. Either *A. bombi* could be causing high larval mortality rates or the larvae could be shedding the parasite when pupating. To determine whether the reduced prevalence in the nurse life stage is caused by differential mortality of the host or

shedding of the parasite, experimental infection studies will need to be conducted in honeybee larvae. This will also shed light on whether *A. bombi* affects honeybee fitness and hive stability

Here I show that *A. bombi* has a higher prevalence within *A. mellifera* than ever published before. *A. bombi* is found within individuals in the hive that do not have direct contact with the outside environment (including bumblebees that are infected with *A. bombi*). This proves that honeybee foragers can bring *A. bombi* into the hive and pass the parasite on to nestmates. We can see that the distribution of *A. bombi* within an *A. mellifera* hive is different across three of the developmental stages, with capped larvae and foragers showing high prevalences and nurse bees showing a significantly lower prevalence. More research is needed to find out if *A. bombi* can replicate in *A. mellifera*. There is also a need to find out if *A. bombi* is causing high mortality rates in *A. mellifera* larvae or if the larvae are shedding the parasite during pupation.

# Chapter 4

# Conclusion

Worldwide, bees are the most economically important pollinators (Blacquière et al, 2012), accounting for nearly 75% of the world's food crop pollination (Grozinger and Flenniken 2019), yet are suffering from devastating declines (Potts et al, 2010a; Potts et al, 2010b; Brodschneider et al, 2018). These declines can have terrible effects on plants that we are dependent on. We do not fully understand the reasons for these declines, but pathogens clearly play a role. For bee conservation, it is important to know how these pathogens are being transported around the world, and if natural barriers like the ocean can stop them from spreading. In my thesis I investigated the prevalence of Apicystis bombi in pollinators. This parasite has lethal and sublethal effects on bumblebees. A. bombi is considered to be a low prevalence parasite of *Bombus* species (Plischuk et al, 2011), but molecular screening suggests a higher prevalence (> 25%) (Graystock et al, 2013b; Graystock et al, 2014). It is important to gain a better understanding of A. bombi as it could be contributing to global bee declines. Below, I discuss the key insights arising from my research and discuss how they might impact pollinator health and contribute to our understanding of pollinator declines.

It is essential that we understand the geographic distribution of *A. bombi* to find out if it is able to cross natural barriers such as the ocean. This will help us identify key populations which are vulnerable to its potential spread. This in turn could help inform the creation of stricter trade regulations, slowing the spread of this parasite. It is known that isolated islands contain fewer pathogens compared to nearby mainlands (Spurgin *et al*, 2012). However, bee pathogens often traverse geographic barriers through commercial apiculture, which facilitates the spread of bee diseases globally. We do not know how natural barriers affect the distribution of *A. bombi* or if they affect different host species differently. In Chapter 2, 1 investigated whether this held true for the parasite *A. bombi*. To do this, I sampled three pollinator species (*Bombus terrestris, Bombus pascuorum* and *Apis mellifera*) across mainland and island sites in the UK and France, and measured the prevalence of *A. bombi*. I found significantly lower prevalences of *A. bombi*  in the island populations compared to the mainland populations for the *Bombus* species. However, this was not true for *A. mellifera*, where both the island and mainland populations had relatively high prevalences of *A. bombi*. This research in Chapter 2 clearly illustrates an island effect on the prevalence of *A. bombi* for *Bombus* species but not for *A. mellifera*. This result raises the question of why the island effect does not occur for *A. mellifera*. One hypothesis is that trade of the commercially valuable *A. mellifera* opens pathogen pathways, facilitating the spread of pathogens and causing high prevalences in both island and mainland populations (Fürst *et al*, 2014; Wilfert *et al*, 2016). A comparison of the number of commercial hives each island imports yearly would allow for an analysis of whether parasite prevalence is higher on islands with a higher trade rate. This could possibly support the hypothesis that increased trade increases the spread *A. bombi*.

A. bombi is known to be lethal to bumblebees, but its effects on honeybees are yet to be studied and are not well understood. B. terrestris mortality associated with Deformed Wind Virus (DWV) is known to increase in the presence of A. bombi (Graystock et al, 2016b). As A. mellifera exhibit DWV at higher rates than Bombus species (Fürst et al, 2014), it is highly possible that A. bombi can have colony-destroying effects on A. mellifera. After finding such a high prevalence of A. bombi in A. mellifera foragers in Chapter 2, I thought it was important to investigate if A. bombi can transfer to nest-mates throughout the forager's hive, as this would support the theory that A. bombi can infect A. mellifera . If A. bombi is only found in the foragers, it could be that the presence of A. bombi is due to accidental contamination from pollen sources. If the parasite is not found in other nestmates, this would imply that A. bombi is not capable of replicating and spreading through an A. mellifera hive, and is therefore not a natural parasite of A. mellifera. I measured the prevalence of A. bombi in A. mellifera hives across three different life stages, and found A. bombi in all three. I found a significantly lower prevalence of A. bombi in A. mellifera nurse bees compared to the capped larvae and foragers. This could be because the process of pupation is an effective parasite control measure, or because only non-infected larvae survive to adulthood. The latter is less likely, as no high larval mortality was observed in any of the hives. My results show unprecedented high prevalences of *A. bombi* across these important pollinators, and its potential to infect *A. mellifera*. The high prevalence of *A. bombi* in *A. mellifera* larvae is cause for concern, and further study is needed to determine whether this parasite effects larval mortality. Previous research has completely underestimated the prevalence of this potentially harmful parasite to these globally vital pollinators, and this under reporting may be due to the use of non-specific primers.

When breeding domesticated insects to be transported for purposes such as pollination and biocontrol of pests, pathogen dispersal by the domesticated insects should be considered. Native bee populations are experiencing parasitic pressure from bee species that are commercially reared in pathogen-dense environments and then imported (Graystock et al, 2013). To prevent their extinction, efforts to conserve these wild bees and maintain pockets where they can continue to exist must be supported. But given the ever increasing rate of the commercial bee trade (Aizen and Harder 2009), the increased risk of an unchecked A. bombi epidemic cannot be ignored. A possible course of action would be to enforce strict parasite screening as part of global bee trade regulations. Specific primers, successfully used as an accurate identifier of A. bombi during my research, could be used to reliably screen traded domesticated insects for A. bombi to prevent global outbreaks. When first discovered, A. bombi was found in Bombus species and one A. mellifera sample (Lipa and Triggiani 1996). Since then, studies of A. bombi in A. mellifera have been sparse, and only in the last few years has focus returned to A. mellifera (table 1.2). This recent literature and my own research report the increase of A. bombi in A. mellifera populations. The high prevalences found in my research indicate that A. bombi has always been parasite of A. mel*lifera*, challenging the theory that *A. bombi* is only a parasite of *Bombus* species.

I found evidence of *A. bombi* presence in individuals of every level of the *A. mel-lifera* life cycle, likely transferred through faeces or contaminated pollen. This contaminated pollen includes commercially sold pollen which has been found to carry *A. bombi* along with many other pathogens (Graystock *et al*, 2016a: Pereira *et al*, 2019). To better understand the implications of high *A. bombi* prevalence in *A. mellifera* hives, we need more research into the possible harmful effects of an *A. bombi* infection. Since their evolution 160 million years ago (Cappellari *et al*, 2013), the relationship between flowering plants and eusocial pollinators has become a vital part of the planet's ecosystem, with a majority of terrestrial organisms relying on it directly or indirectly. Efforts to maintain this ecosystem service must be supported by those in power, as the environmental and economic benefits are incalculable.

## **Chapter 5**

## **Supplementary material**

Table 5.1: Number of each bumblebee species at each apiary and number of infected with *Apicystis bombi* from chapter 3 to show what each background bumblebee group at each apiary comprised of.

Apiary	Species	Total	A. bombi
Identity			Positive
1	B. hortorum	2	2
1	B. pascuorum	26	22
1	B. pratorum	1	1
1	B. terrestris / lucorum	1	0
3	B. lapidarius	2	1
3	B. pascuorum	6	9
3	B. sylvestris	1	1
3	B. terrestris / lucorum	6	8
4	B. hortorum	4	4
4	B. pascuorum	25	13
4	B. terrestris / lucorum	1	0

# **Chapter 6**

## References

Agnew, P., Bedhomme, S., Haussy, C., and Michalakis, Y. (1999) Age and size at maturity of the mosquito Culex pipiens infected by the microsporidian parasite Vavraia culicis. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 266(1422): 947-952.

Aizen, M. A., and Harder, L. D. (2009) Geographic variation in the growth of domesticated honey-bee stocks. Communicative and Integrative Biology 2(6): 464-466.

Anderson, D. (1972) Developmental Systems: Insects 4. The Development of Holometabolous Insects. Academic Press.

Annoscia, D., Brown, S., Di Prisco, G., De Paoli, E., Del Fabbro, S., Zanni, V., Galbraith, D., Caprio, E., Grozinger, C. M., and Pennacchio, F. (2018) Haemolymph removal by the parasite *Varroa destructor* can trigger the proliferation of the Deformed Wing Virus in mite infested bees (*Apis mellifera*), contributing to enhanced pathogen virulence. doi:10.1101/257667.

Arbetman, M. P., Meeus, I., Morales, C. L., Aizen, M. A., and Smagghe, G. (2013) Alien parasite hitchhikes to Patagonia on invasive bumblebee. Biol Invasions 15(3): 489-494.

Arrese, E. L., and Soulages, J. L. (2010) Insect Fat Body: Energy, Metabolism, and Regulation. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 55(1): 207-225.

Babu, V. (2018) Importance of bumble bee community evenness for crop pollination. doi:https://stud.epsilon.slu.se/13899/.

Bartolomé, C., Buendía, M., Benito, M., De la Rúa, P., Ornosa, C., Martín-Hernández, R., Higes, M., and Maside, X. (2018) A new multiplex PCR protocol to detect mixed trypanosomatid infections in species of *Apis* and *Bombus*. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 154: 37-41.

Bates, D., and Sarkar, D. (2006) Ime4: Linear mixed models using S4 classes. R package version 0.99875-8. doi:http://CRAN.R-project.org/doc/Rnews/.

Bell, T., Ager, D., Song, J., Newman, J., Thompson, I., Lilley, A., and van der Gast, C. (2005) Larger Islands House More Bacterial Taxa. Science 308(5730):

1884-1884.

Benjamini, Y., and Hochberg, Y. (1995) Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological) 57(1): 289-300.

Blacquière, T., Smagghe, G., van Gestel, C. A. M., and Mommaerts, V. (2012) Neonicotinoids in bees: a review on concentrations, side-effects and risk assessment. Ecotoxicology 21(4): 973-992.

Blaker, H. (2000) Confidence curves and improved exact confidence intervals for discrete distributions. Can. J. Statistics 28(4): 783-798.

Braun, S. E., Castrillo, L. A., Sanderson, J. P., Daughtrey, M. L., and Wraight, S. P. (2010) Transstadial Transmission of PythiuminBradysia impatiensand Lack of Adult Vectoring Capacity. Phytopathology 100(12): 1307-1314.

Brodschneider, R., Gray, A., Adjlane, N., Ballis, A., Brusbardis, V., Charrière, J.-D., Chlebo, R., Coffey, M. F., Dahle, B., and de Graaf, D. C. (2018) Multi-country loss rates of honey bee colonies during winter 2016/2017 from the COLOSS survey. Journal of Apicultural Research 57(3): 452-457.

Brown, C. (2004) Emerging zoonoses and pathogens of public health significance – an overview. Rev. Sci. Tech. OIE 23(2): 435-442.

Brown, L. D., Thompson, G. A., and Hillyer, J. F. (2018) Transstadial transmission of larval hemocoelic infection negatively affects development and adult female longevity in the mosquito Anopheles gambiae. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 151: 21-31.

Brown, M. (2017) Microsporidia: An Emerging Threat to Bumblebees?. Trends in Parasitology 33(10): 754-762.

Brown, M. J. F., Loosli, R., and Schmid-Hempel, P. (2000) Condition-dependent expression of virulence in a trypanosome infecting bumblebees. Oikos 91(3): 421-427.

Brown, M. J. F., Sainsbury, A. W., Vaughan-Higgins, R. J., Measures, G. H., Jones, C. M., and Gammans, N. (2017) Bringing Back a Healthy Buzz? Invertebrate Parasites and Reintroductions: A Case Study in Bumblebees. EcoHealth 14(S1): 74-83.

Brødsgaard, C. J., Ritter, W., and Hansen, H. (1998) Response of in vitro reared honey bee larvae to various doses of *Paenibacillus larvae* larvae spores. Apidologie 29(6): 569-578.

Cappellari, S., Schaefer, H., and Davis, C. (2013) Evolution: Pollen or Pollinators — Which Came First?. Current Biology 23(8): R316-R318.

Carrete, M., Serrano, D., Illera, J. C., López, G., Vögeli, M., Delgado, A., and Tella, J. (2009) Goats, birds, and emergent diseases: apparent and hidden effects of exotic species in an island environment. Ecological Applications 19(4): 840-853.

Cashdan, E. (2014) Biogeography of Human Infectious Diseases: A Global Historical Analysis. PLoS ONE 9(10): e106752.

Cepero, A., Ravoet, J., Gómez-Moracho, T., Bernal, J., Del Nozal, M. J., Bartolomé, C., Maside, X., Meana, A., González-Porto, A. V., and de Graaf, D. C. (2014) Holistic screening of collapsing honey bee colonies in Spain: a case study. BMC Research Notes 7(1): 649.

Chambers, R. G., Chatzimichael, K., and Tzouvelekas, V. Sub-lethal concentrations of neonicotinoid insecticides at the field level affect negatively honey yield: Evidence from a 6-year survey of Greek apiaries. PLoS ONE 14(4): e0215363.

Chen, Y., Evans, J. D., Smith, I. B., and Pettis, J. S. (2008) *Nosema ceranae* is a long-present and wide-spread microsporidian infection of the European honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) in the United States. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 97(2): 186-188.

Cisarovsky, G., and Schmid-Hempel, P. (2014) Combining laboratory and field approaches to investigate the importance of flower nectar in the horizontal transmission of a bumblebee parasite. Entomol Exp Appl 152(3): 209-215.

Cole, R. (1970) The application of the "triangulation" method to the purification of *Nosema sp*ores from insect tissues. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 15(2):

193-195.

Cornman, R. S., Tarpy, D. R., Chen, Y., Jeffreys, L., Lopez, D., Pettis, J. S., vanEngelsdorp, D., and Evans, J. D. (2012) Pathogen Webs in Collapsing Honey Bee Colonies. PLoS ONE 7(8): e43562.

Cox-Foster, D. L., Conlan, S., Holmes, E. C., Palacios, G., Evans, J. D., Moran, N. A., Quan, P.-L., Briese, T., Hornig, M., and Geiser, D. M. (2007) A Metagenomic Survey of Microbes in Honey Bee Colony Collapse Disorder. Science 318(5848): 283-287.

Danner, N., Molitor, A. M., Schiele, S., Härtel, S., and Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2016) Season and landscape composition affect pollen foraging distances and habitat use of honey bees. Ecol Appl 26(6): 1920-1929.

Daszak, P., Cunningham, A., and Hyatt, A. (2000) Emerging Infectious Diseases of Wildlife– Threats to Biodiversity and Human Health. 287(5452): 443-449.

Davies, M., Anderson, M., and Hilton, A. (2017) Acquisition and retention of Clostridium difficile by Musca domestica larvae and pupae during metamorphosis. Journal of Hospital Infection 95(4): 410-414.

De la Rúa, P., Jaffé, R., Dall'Olio, R., Muñoz, I., and Serrano, J. (2009) Biodiversity, conservation and current threats to European honeybees. Apidologie 40(3): 263-284.

Dethlefsen, L., and Relman, D. A. (2011) Incomplete recovery and individualized responses of the human distal gut microbiota to repeated antibiotic perturbation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108(Supplement.1): 4554-4561.

Doublet, V., Labarussias, M., de Miranda, J. R., Moritz, R. F. A., and Paxton, R. J. (2015) Bees under stress: sublethal doses of a neonicotinoid pesticide and pathogens interact to elevate honey bee mortality across the life cycle. Environ Microbiol 17(4): 969-983.

Duneau, D. F., and Lazzaro, B. P. (2018) Persistence of an extracellular systemic infection across metamorphosis in a holometabolous insect. Biol. Lett.
14(2): 20170771.

D'Antonio, C. M., and Dudley, T. L. (1995) Biological Invasions as Agents of Change on Islands Versus Mainlands. : 103-121. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-78963-2-9.

Ebert, D. (1998) Experimental Evolution of Parasites. 282(5393): 1432-1436.

EI-Hamalawi, Z. (2008) Acquisition, retention and dispersal of soilborne plant pathogenic fungi by fungus gnats and moth flies. Ann Applied Biology 2(153): 080527111818499-???.

Evans, J. D., and Schwarz, R. S. (2011) Bees brought to their knees: microbes affecting honey bee health. Trends in Microbiology 19(12): 614-620.

Fellous, S., and Lazzaro, B. P. (2010) Larval food quality affects adult (but not larval) immune gene expression independent of effects on general condition. 19(7): 1462-1468.

Fijen, T. P. M., Scheper, J. A., Boom, T. M., Janssen, N., Raemakers, I., and Kleijn, D. (2018) Insect pollination is at least as important for marketable crop yield as plant quality in a seed crop. Ecol Lett 21(11): 1704-1713.

Flanagan, M. L., Parrish, C. R., Cobey, S., Glass, G. E., Bush, R. M., and Leighton, T. J. (2012) Anticipating the Species Jump: Surveillance for Emerging Viral Threats. 59(3): 155-163.

Flores, J. M., Gil-Lebrero, S., Gámiz, V., Rodríguez, M. I., Ortiz, M. A., and Quiles, F. J. (2019) Effect of the climate change on honey bee colonies in a temperate Mediterranean zone assessed through remote hive weight monitoring system in conjunction with exhaustive colonies assessment. Science of The Total Environment 653: 1111-1119.

Folly, A. J., Koch, H., Stevenson, P. C., and Brown, M. J. (2017) Larvae act as a transient transmission hub for the prevalent bumblebee parasite *Crithidia bombi*. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 148: 81-85.

Forsgren, E., Locke, B., Sircoulomb, F., and Schäfer, M. O. (2018) Bacterial Diseases in Honeybees. Curr Clin Micro Rpt 5(1): 18-25.

Fouks, B., and Lattorff, H. M. G. (2011) Recognition and Avoidance of Contaminated Flowers by Foraging Bumblebees (*Bombus terrestris*). PLoS ONE 6(10): e26328.

Fries, I., Lindström, A., and Korpela, S. (2006) Vertical transmission of American foulbrood (*Paenibacillus larvae*) in honey bees (*Apis mellifera*). Veterinary Microbiology 114(3-4): 269-274.

Fürst, M. A., McMahon, D. P., Osborne, J. L., Paxton, R. J., and Brown, M. J. F. (2014) Disease associations between honeybees and bumblebees as a threat to wild pollinators. Nature 506(7488): 364-366.

Gamboa, V., Ravoet, J., Brunain, M., Smagghe, G., Meeus, I., Figueroa, J., Riaño, D., and de Graaf, D. C. (2015) Bee pathogens found in *Bombus* atratus from Colombia: A case study. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 129: 36-39.

Genersch, E. (2010) American Foulbrood in honeybees and its causative agent, *Paenibacillus larvae*. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 103: S10-S19.

Genersch, E., von der Ohe, W., Kaatz, H., Schroeder, A., Otten, C., Büchler, R., Berg, S., Ritter, W., Mühlen, W., and Gisder, S. (2010) The German bee monitoring project: a long term study to understand periodically high winter losses of honey bee colonies. Apidologie 41(3): 332-352.

Genersch, E., Yue, C., Fries, I., and de Miranda, J. R. (2006) Detection of Deformed wing virus, a honey bee viral pathogen, in bumble bees (*Bombus terrestris* and *Bombus pascuorum*) with wing deformities. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 91(1): 61-63.

Gill, R. J., Ramos-Rodriguez, O., and Raine, N. E. (2012) Combined pesticide exposure severely affects individual- and colony-level traits in bees. Nature 491(7422): 105-108.

Gilliam, M., and Prest, D. B. (1987) Microbiology of feces of the larval honey bee, *Apis mellifera*. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 49(1): 70-75.

Gisder, S., Schüler, V., Horchler, L. L., Groth, D., and Genersch, E. Long-Term Temporal Trends of *Nosema spp*. Infection Prevalence in Northeast Germany: Continuous Spread of *Nosema ceranae*, an Emerging Pathogen of Honey Bees (*Apis mellifera*), but No General Replacement of Nosema apis. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 7.

Gordon, R., Bresolin-Schott, N., and East, I. (2014) Nomadic beekeeper movements create the potential for widespread disease in the honeybee industry. Aust Vet J 92(8): 283-290.

Gottdenker, N. L., Walsh, T., Vargas, H., Merkel, J., Jiménez, G. U., Miller, R. E., Dailey, M., and Parker, P. G. (2005) Assessing the risks of introduced chickens and their pathogens to native birds in the Galápagos Archipelago. Biological Conservation 126(3): 429-439.

Goulson, D. (2003) Bumblebees: Their Behaviour and Ecology. Oxford: Oxford University Press, USA.

Goulson, D., and Hughes, W. O. (2015) Mitigating the anthropogenic spread of bee parasites to protect wild pollinators. Biological Conservation 191: 10-19.

Goulson, D., Hanley, M., Darvill, B., Ellis, J., and Knight, M. (2005) Causes of rarity in bumblebees. Biological Conservation 122(1): 1-8.

Goulson, D., Lye, G., and Darvill, B. (2008) Decline and Conservation of Bumble Bees. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 53(1): 191-208.

Goulson, D., Nicholls, E., Botias, C., and Rotheray, E. L. (2015) Bee declines driven by combined stress from parasites, pesticides, and lack of flowers. Science 347(6229): 1255957-1255957.

Goulson, D., O'Connor, S., and Park, K. J. (2018) The impacts of predators and parasites on wild bumblebee colonies. Ecol Entomol 43(2): 168-181.

Goulson, D., Whitehorn, P., and Fowley, M. (2012) Influence of urbanisation on the prevalence of protozoan parasites of bumblebees. 37(1): 83-89.

Graystock, P., Goulson, D., and Hughes, W. O. H. (2015) Parasites in bloom: flowers aid dispersal and transmission of pollinator parasites within and between bee species. Proc. R. Soc. B 282(1813): 20151371.

Graystock, P., Jones, J., Pamminger, T., Parkinson, J., Norman, V., Blane, E.,

Rothstein, L., Wäckers, F., Goulson, D., and Hughes, W. (2016b) Hygienic food to reduce pathogen risk to bumblebees. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 136: 68-73.

Graystock, P., Meeus, I., Smagghe, G., Goulson, D., and Hughes, W. O. H. (2016a) The effects of single and mixed infections of *Apicystis bombi* and deformed wing virus in *Bombus terrestris*. Parasitology 143(3): 358-365.

Graystock, P., Yates, K., Darvill, B., Goulson, D., and Hughes, W. O. (2013a) Emerging dangers: Deadly effects of an emergent parasite in a new pollinator host. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 114(2): 114-119.

Graystock, P., Yates, K., Evison, S. E. F., Darvill, B., Goulson, D., and Hughes, W. O. H. (2013b) The Trojan hives: pollinator pathogens, imported and distributed in bumblebee colonies. J Appl Ecol : n/a-n/a. doi:10.1111/1365-2664.12134.

Grozinger, C. M., and Flenniken, M. L. (2019) Bee Viruses: Ecology, Pathogenicity, and Impacts. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 64(1): 205-226.

Gätschenberger, H., Azzami, K., Tautz, J., and Beier, H. (2013) Antibacterial Immune Competence of Honey Bees (*Apis mellifera*) Is Adapted to Different Life Stages and Environmental Risks. PLoS ONE 8(6): e66415.

Hamdi, C., Balloi, A., Essanaa, J., Crotti, E., Gonella, E., Raddadi, N., Ricci, I., Boudabous, A., Borin, S., and Manino, A. (2011) Gut microbiome dysbiosis and honeybee health. 135(7): 524-533.

Harpur, B. A., Guarna, M. M., Huxter, E., Higo, H., Moon, K.-M., Hoover, S. E., Ibrahim, A., Melathopoulos, A. P., Desai, S., and Currie, R. W. (2019) Integrative Genomics Reveals the Genetics and Evolution of the Honey Bee's Social Immune System. 11(3): 937-948.

Harris, G., and Pimm, S. L. (2008) Range Size and Extinction Risk in Forest Birds. 22(1): 163-171.

Harrison, X. A. (2014) Using observation-level random effects to model overdispersion in count data in ecology and evolution. 2: e616.

Higes, M., Martín-Hernández, R., Botías, C., Bailón, E. G., González-Porto,

A. V., Barrios, L., del Nozal, M. J., Bernal, J. L., Jiménez, J. J., and Palencia,
P. G. (2008) How natural infection by *Nosema ceranae* causes honeybee colony collapse. 10(10): 2659-2669.

Higes, M., Martín-Hernández, R., Garrido-Bailón, E., González-Porto, A. V., García-Palencia, P., Meana, A., del Nozal, M. J., Mayo, R., and Bernal, J. L. (2009) Honeybee colony collapse due to *Nosema ceranae* in professional apiaries. 1(2): 110-113.

Highfield, A. C., El Nagar, A., Mackinder, L. C. M., Noel, L. M.-L. J., Hall, M. J., Martin, S. J., and Schroeder, D. C. (2009) Deformed Wing Virus Implicated in Overwintering Honeybee Colony Losses. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75(22): 7212-7220.

Huang, W.-F., Jiang, J.-H., Chen, Y.-W., and Wang, C.-H. (2007) A *Nosema ceranae* isolate from the honeybee *Apis mellifera*. Apidologie 38(1): 30-37.

Jabal-Uriel, C., Martín-Hernández, R., Ornosa, C., Higes, M., Berriatua, E., and De la Rua, P. Short communication: First data on the prevalence and distribution of pathogens in bumblebees (*Bombus terrestris* and *Bombus pascuorum*) from Spain. Span J Agric Res 15(1): e05SC01.

Jean, K., Burnside, W. R., Carlson, L., Smith, K., and Guégan, J.-F. (2016) An equilibrium theory signature in the island biogeography of human parasites and pathogens. Global Ecology and Biogeography 25(1): 107-116.

Jones, C. M., and Brown, M. J. F. (2014) Parasites and genetic diversity in an invasive bumblebee. J Anim Ecol 83(6): 1428-1440.

Jones, K. E., Patel, N. G., Levy, M. A., Storeygard, A., Balk, D., Gittleman, J. L., and Daszak, P. (2008) Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature 451(7181): 990-993.

Kanbar, G., and Engels, W. (2003) Ultrastructure and bacterial infection of wounds in honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) pupae punctured by *Varroa* mites. Parasitology Research 90(5): 349-354.

Klein, A., Steffan–Dewenter, I., and Tscharntke, T. (2003) Fruit set of highland

coffee increases with the diversity of pollinating bees. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 270(1518): 955-961.

Klein, A.-M., Vaissière, B. E., Cane, J. H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S. A., Kremen, C., and Tscharntke, T. (2007) Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 274(1608): 303-313.

Koch, H., and Schmid-Hempel, P. (2011) Socially transmitted gut microbiota protect bumble bees against an intestinal parasite. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108(48): 19288-19292.

Koch, H., and Schmid-Hempel, P. (2012) Gut microbiota instead of host genotype drive the specificity in the interaction of a natural host-parasite system. Ecol Lett 15(10): 1095-1103.

Kojima, Y., Toki, T., Morimoto, T., Yoshiyama, M., Kimura, K., and Kadowaki, T. (2011) Infestation of Japanese Native Honey Bees by Tracheal Mite and Virus from Non-native European Honey Bees in Japan. Microb Ecol 62(4).

Kosior, A., Celary, W., Olejniczak, P., Fijal, J., Król, W., Solarz, W., and Plonka, P. (2007) The decline of the bumble bees and cuckoo bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Bombini) of Western and Central Europe. ORX 41(01): 79.

Kralj, J., Brockmann, A., Fuchs, S., and Tautz, J. (2007) The parasitic mite *Varroa destructor* affects non-associative learning in honey bee foragers, *Apis mellifera* L. J Comp Physiol A 193(3): 363-370.

Kurtenbach, K., Hanincová, K., Tsao, J. I., Margos, G., Fish, D., and Ogden, N. H. (2006) Fundamental processes in the evolutionary ecology of Lyme borreliosis. Nat Rev Microbiol 4(9): 660-669.

Kurze, C., Routtu, J., and Moritz, R. F. (2016) Parasite resistance and tolerance in honeybees at the individual and social level. Zoology 119(4): 290-297.

Kwong, W. K., Mancenido, A. L., and Moran, N. A. (2017) Immune system stimulation by the native gut microbiota of honey bees. R. Soc. open sci. 4(2): 170003.

Laughton, A. M., Boots, M., and Siva-Jothy, M. T. (2011) The ontogeny of immunity in the honey bee, *Apis mellifera* L. following an immune challenge. Journal of Insect Physiology 57(7): 1023-1032.

Laycock, I., Lenthall, K. M., Barratt, A. T., and Cresswell, J. E. (2012) Effects of imidacloprid, a neonicotinoid pesticide, on reproduction in worker bumble bees (*Bombus terrestris*). Ecotoxicology 21(7): 1937-1945.

Le Conte, Y., Alaux, C., Martin, J.-F., Harbo, J. R., Harris, J. W., Dantec, C., Séverac, D., Cros-Arteil, S., and Navajas, M. (2011) Social immunity in honeybees (*Apis mellifera*): transcriptome analysis of varroa-hygienic behaviour. 20(3): 399-408.

Lindström, A., Korpela, S., and Fries, I. (2008) Horizontal transmission of *Paenibacillus larvae* spores between honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) colonies through robbing. Apidologie 39(5): 515-522.

Lindström, K. M., Foufopoulos, J., Pärn, H., and Wikelski, M. (2004) Immunological investments reflect parasite abundance in island populations of Darwin's finches. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 271(1547): 1513-1519.

Lipa, J. J., and Triggiani, O. (1996) *Apicystis* gen nov and *Apicystis bombi* (Liu, Macfarlane and Pengelly) comb nov (Protozoa: Neogregarinida), a cosmopolitan parasite of *Bombus* and *Apis* (Hymenoptera: Apidae). Apidologie 27(1): 29-34.

Liu, H., Macfarlane, R., and Pengelly, D. (1974) *Mattesia bombi* n. sp. (Neogregarinida: Ophrocystidae), a parasite of *Bombus* (Hymenoptera: Apidae). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 23(2): 225-231.

Maharramov, J., Meeus, I., Maebe, K., Arbetman, M., Morales, C., Graystock, P., Hughes, W. O. H., Plischuk, S., Lange, C. E., and de Graaf, D. C. (2013) Genetic Variability of the Neogregarine *Apicystis bombi*, an Etiological Agent of an Emergent Bumblebee Disease. PLoS ONE 8(12): e81475.

Manley, R., Boots, M., and Wilfert, L. (2015) REVIEW: Emerging viral disease risk to pollinating insects: ecological, evolutionary and anthropogenic factors. J

Appl Ecol 52(2): 331-340.

Manley, R., Temperton, B., Doyle, T., Gates, D., Hedges, S., Boots, M., and Wilfert, L. (2019) Knockon community impacts of a novel vector: spillover of emerging DWVB from *Varroa* infested honeybees to wild bumblebees. Ecol Lett . doi:10.1111/ele.13323.

Manne, L. L., Brooks, T. M., and Pimm, S. L. (1999) Relative risk of extinction of passerine birds on continents and islands. Nature 399(6733): 258-261.

Marshman, J., Blay-Palmer, A., and Landman, K. Anthropocene Crisis: Climate Change, Pollinators, and Food Security. Environments 6(2): 22.

Martin, S. J., Highfield, A. C., Brettell, L., Villalobos, E. M., Budge, G. E., Powell, M., Nikaido, S., and Schroeder, D. C. (2012) Global Honey Bee Viral Landscape Altered by a Parasitic Mite. Science 336(6086): 1304-1306.

Martinez, J. L. (2009) Environmental pollution by antibiotics and by antibiotic resistance determinants. Environmental Pollution 157(11): 2893-2902.

Martini, X., Hoffmann, M., Coy, M. R., Stelinski, L. L., and Pelz-Stelinski, K. S. (2015) Infection of an Insect Vector with a Bacterial Plant Pathogen Increases Its Propensity for Dispersal. PLoS ONE 10(6): e0129373.

McCallum, H., and Dobson, A. (1995) Detecting disease and parasite threats to endangered species and ecosystems. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 10(5): 190-194.

McFarlane, R., Sleigh, A., and McMichael, A. (2013) Land-Use Change and Emerging Infectious Disease on an Island Continent. IJERPH 10(7): 2699-2719.

McMahon, D. P., Fürst, M. A., Caspar, J., Theodorou, P., Brown, M. J. F., and Paxton, R. J. (2015) A sting in the spit: widespread cross-infection of multiple RNA viruses across wild and managed bees. J Anim Ecol 84(3): 615-624.

Meeus, I., Brown, M. J. F., De Graaf, D. C., and Smagghe, G. (2011) Effects of Invasive Parasites on Bumble Bee Declines. Conservation Biology 25(4): 662-671.

Meeus, I., De Graaf, D., Jans, K., and Smagghe, G. (2010) Multiplex PCR

detection of slowly-evolving trypanosomatids and neogregarines in bumblebees using broad-range primers. Journal of applied microbiology 109: 107-115.

Menail, A. H., Piot, N., Meeus, I., Smagghe, G., and Loucif-Ayad, W. (2016) Large pathogen screening reveals first report of Megaselia scalaris (Diptera: Phoridae) parasitizing *Apis mellifera intermissa* (Hymenoptera: Apidae). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 137: 33-37.

Milberg, P., and Tyrberg, T. (1993) Naive birds and noble savages - a review of man-caused prehistoric extinctions of island birds. Ecography 16(3): 229-250.

Millins, C., Dickinson, E. R., Isakovic, P., Gilbert, L., Wojciechowska, A., Paterson, V., Tao, F., Jahn, M., Kilbride, E., and Birtles, R. (2018) Landscape structure affects the prevalence and distribution of a tick-borne zoonotic pathogen. Parasites Vectors 11(1).

Mockler, B. K., Kwong, W. K., Moran, N. A., and Koch, H. (2018) Microbiome Structure Influences Infection by the Parasite *Crithidia bombi* in Bumble Bees. Appl Environ Microbiol 84(7).

Modi, S. R., Collins, J. J., and Relman, D. A. (2014) Antibiotics and the gut microbiota. J. Clin. Invest. 124(10): 4212-4218.

Moffat, C., Buckland, S. T., Samson, A. J., McArthur, R., Chamosa Pino, V., Bollan, K. A., Huang, J. T.-J., and Connolly, C. N. (2016) Neonicotinoids target distinct nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and neurons, leading to differential risks to bumblebees. Sci Rep 6(1).

Mohammadian, B., Bokaie, S., Moharrami, M., Nabian, S., and Forsi, M. (2019) Prevalence of honeybee Colony Collapse Disorder and its relation to *Nosema sp*p. and climate in apiaries of Iran. Journal of Veterinary Research 1(74): 11-18.

Mommaerts, V., Reynders, S., Boulet, J., Besard, L., Sterk, G., and Smagghe, G. (2010) Risk assessment for side-effects of neonicotinoids against bumblebees with and without impairing foraging behavior. Ecotoxicology 19(1): 207-215.

Morandin, L. A., and Winston, M. L. (2005) Wild bee abundance and seed production in conventional, organic, and genetically modified canola. Ecological

Applications 15(3): 871-881.

Morimoto, T., Kojima, Y., Yoshiyama, M., Kimura, K., Yang, B., Peng, G., and Kadowaki, T. (2013) Molecular detection of protozoan parasites infecting*Apis mellifera*colonies in Japan. Environmental Microbiology Reports 5(1): 74-77.

Mutinelli, F. (2011) The spread of pathogens through trade in honey bees and their products (including queen bees and semen): overview and recent developments. Rev. Sci. Tech. OIE 30(1): 257-271.

Natsopoulou, M. E., McMahon, D. P., Doublet, V., Bryden, J., and Paxton, R. J. (2015) Interspecific competition in honeybee intracellular gut parasites is asymmetric and favours the spread of an emerging infectious disease. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 282(1798): 20141896-20141896.

Nunes-Silva, P., Piot, N., Meeus, I., Blochtein, B., and Smagghe, G. (2016) Absence of Leishmaniinae and Nosematidae in stingless bees. Sci Rep 6(1).

O'Dowd, A. (2007) Infectious diseases are spreading more rapidly than ever before, WHO warns. BMJ 335(7617): 418.2-418.

Ollerton, J., Winfree, R., and Tarrant, S. (2011) How many flowering plants are pollinated by animals?. Oikos 120(3): 321-326.

Orrock, J. L., Allan, B. F., and Drost, C. A. (2011) Biogeographic and Ecological Regulation of Disease: Prevalence of Sin Nombre Virus in Island Mice Is Related to Island Area, Precipitation, and Predator Richness. The American Naturalist 177(5): 691-697.

Otterstatter, M. C., and Thomson, J. D. (2007) Contact networks and transmission of an intestinal pathogen in bumble bee (*Bombus* impatiens) colonies. Oecologia 154(2): 411-421.

Otterstatter, M. C., and Thomson, J. D. (2008) Does Pathogen Spillover from Commercially Reared Bumble Bees Threaten Wild Pollinators?. PLoS ONE 3(7): e2771.

Owen, R. (2017) Role of Human Action in the Spread of Honey Bee (Hymenoptera: Apidae) Pathogens. 110(3): 797-801. Pacini, A., Giacobino, A., Molineri, A., Bulacio Cagnolo, N., Aignasse, A., Zago, L., Mira, A., Izaguirre, M., Schnittger, L., and Merke, J. (2016) Risk factors associated with the abundance of *Nosema sp*p. in apiaries located in temperate and subtropical conditions after honey harvest. Journal of Apicultural Research 55(4): 342-350.

Parmentier, A., Billiet, A., Smagghe, G., Vandamme, P., Deforce, D., Van Nieuwerburgh, F., and Meeus, I. (2018) A prokaryotic-eukaryotic relation in the fat body of *Bombus terrestris*. Environmental Microbiology Reports 10(6): 644-650.

Patz, J. A., Daszak, P., Tabor, G. M., Aguirre, A. A., Pearl, M., Epstein, J., Wolfe, N. D., Kilpatrick, A. M., Foufopoulos, J., and Molyneux, D. (2004) Unhealthy Landscapes: Policy Recommendations on Land Use Change and Infectious Disease Emergence. Environmental Health Perspectives 112(10): 1092-1098.

Pereira, K. de S., Meeus, I., and Smagghe, G. (2019) Honey bee-collected pollen is a potential source of Ascosphaera apis infection in managed bumble bees. Sci Rep 9(1).

Pettis, J. S., vanEngelsdorp, D., Johnson, J., and Dively, G. (2012) Pesticide exposure in honey bees results in increased levels of the gut pathogen Nosema. Naturwissenschaften 99(2): 153-158.

Phillips, C. (2014) Following beekeeping: More-than-human practice in agrifood. Journal of Rural Studies 36: 149-159.

Pickard, R. S., and Kither, G. Y. (1983) An Evaluation of Shaking and Displacement Methods for Separating a Sample of Honeybees with Large Hypopharyngeal Glands from the Remainder of a Colony. Journal of Apicultural Research 22(2): 101-106.

Pimm, S. L., Jones, H. L., and Diamond, J. (1988) On the Risk of Extinction. The American Naturalist 132(6): 757-785.

Piot, N., Meeus, I., Kleijn, D., Scheper, J., Linders, T., and Smagghe, G. (2019) Establishment of wildflower fields in poor quality landscapes enhances microparasite prevalence in wild bumble bees. Oecologia 189(1): 149-158. Plischuk, S., Antúnez, K., Haramboure, M., Minardi, G. M., and Lange, C. E. (2017a) Long-term prevalence of the protists *Crithidia bombi* and *Apicystis bombi* and detection of the microsporidium *Nosema bombi* in invasive bumble bees. Environmental Microbiology Reports 9(2): 169-173.

Plischuk, S., Martín-Hernández, R., Prieto, L., Lucía, M., Botías, C., Meana, A., Abrahamovich, A. H., Lange, C., and Higes, M. (2009) South American native bumblebees (Hymenoptera: Apidae) infected by*Nosema ceranae*(Microsporidia), an emerging pathogen of honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). 1(2): 131-135.

Plischuk, S., Meeus, I., Smagghe, G., and Lange, C. E. (2011) *Apicystis bombi* (Apicomplexa: Neogregarinorida) parasitizing *Apis mellifera* and *Bombus terrestris* (Hymenoptera: Apidae) in Argentina. Environmental microbiology reports 3(5): 565-568.

Plischuk, S., Salvarrey, S., Arbulo, N., Santos, E., Skevington, J. H., Kelso, S., Revainera, P. D., Maggi, M. D., Invernizzi, C., and Lange, C. E. (2017b) Pathogens, parasites, and parasitoids associated with bumble bees (*Bombus* spp.) from Uruguay. Apidologie 48(3): 298-310.

Potts, S. G., Biesmeijer, J. C., Kremen, C., Neumann, P., Schweiger, O., and Kunin, W. E. (2010a) Global pollinator declines: trends, impacts and drivers. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 25(6): 345-353.

Potts, S. G., Roberts, S. P. M., Dean, R., Marris, G., Brown, M. A., Jones, R., Neumann, P., and Settele, J. (2010b) Declines of managed honey bees and beekeepers in Europe. Journal of Apicultural Research 49(1): 15-22.

Praet, J., Parmentier, A., Schmid-Hempel, R., Meeus, I., Smagghe, G., and Vandamme, P. (2018) Large-scale cultivation of the bumblebee gut microbiota reveals an underestimated bacterial species diversity capable of pathogen inhibition. Environ Microbiol 20(1): 214-227.

Ramsey, S. D., Ochoa, R., Bauchan, G., Gulbronson, C., Mowery, J. D., Cohen, A., Lim, D., Joklik, J., Cicero, J. M., and Ellis, J. D. (2019) *Varroa destructor* feeds primarily on honey bee fat body tissue and not hemolymph. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 116(5): 1792-1801.

Randolt, K., Gimple, O., Geissendörfer, J., Reinders, J., Prusko, C., Mueller, M. J., Albert, S., Tautz, J., and Beier, H. (2008) Immune-related proteins induced in the hemolymph after aseptic and septic injury differ in honey bee worker larvae and adults. Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol. 69(4): 155-167.

Ravoet, J., De Smet, L., Meeus, I., Smagghe, G., Wenseleers, T., and de Graaf, D. C. (2014) Widespread occurrence of honey bee pathogens in solitary bees. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 122: 55-58.

Raymann, K., Shaffer, Z., and Moran, N. A. (2017) Antibiotic exposure perturbs the gut microbiota and elevates mortality in honeybees. PLoS Biol 15(3): e2001861.

Reiczigel, J., Foldi, J., and Ózsvari, L. (2010) Exact confidence limits for prevalence of a disease with an imperfect diagnostic test. Epidemiol. Infect. 138(11): 1674-1678.

Reisen, W. K. (2002) Medical and Veterinary Entomology. (Mullen, G. and Durden, L., Eds.).

Ribière, C., Hegarty, C., Stephenson, H., Whelan, P., and O'Toole, P. W. (2018) Gut and Whole-Body Microbiota of the Honey Bee Separate Thriving and Nonthriving Hives. Microb Ecol. doi:10.1007/s00248-018-1287-9.

Rosenkranz, P., Aumeier, P., and Ziegelmann, B. (2010) Biology and control of *Varroa destructor*. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 103: S96-S119. Ruiz-Gonzalez, M., and Brown, M. (2006) Honey bee and bumblebee trypanosomatids: specificity and potential for transmission. Ecol Entomol 6(31): 616–622.

Ruiz-González, M. X., Bryden, J., Moret, Y., Reber-Funk, C., Schmid-Hempel, P., and Brown, M. J. F. (2012) Dynamic transmission, host quality, and population structure in a multihost parasite of bumblebees. 66(10): 3053-3066.

Rutrecht, S. T., and Brown, M. J. (2008) The life-history impact and implications of multiple parasites for bumble bee queens. International Journal for Parasitology 38(7): 799-808.

Rutrecht, S. T., and Brown, M. J. (2008) The life-history impact and implications of multiple parasites for bumble bee queens. International Journal for Parasitology 38(7): 799-808.

Rutrecht, S. T., and Brown, M. J. F. (2009) Differential virulence in a multiplehost parasite of bumble bees: resolving the paradox of parasite survival?. Oikos 118(6): 941-949.

Santini, A., Liebhold, A., Migliorini, D., and Woodward, S. (2018) Tracing the role of human civilization in the globalization of plant pathogens. ISME J 12(3): 647-652.

Schaafsma, A. W., Limay-Rios, V., Baute, T. S., and Smith, J. L. (2019) Neonicotinoid insecticide residues in subsurface drainage and open ditch water around maize fields in southwestern Ontario. PLoS ONE 14(4): e0214787.

Schmid-Hempel, P., and Durrer, S. (1994) Shared use of flowers leads to horizontal pathogen transmission. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 258(1353): 299-302.

Schoonvaere, K., Smagghe, G., Francis, F., and de Graaf, D. C. (2018) Study of the Metatranscriptome of Eight Social and Solitary Wild Bee Species Reveals Novel Viruses and Bee Parasites. Front. Microbiol. 9.

Schroeder, D. C., and Martin, S. J. (2012) Deformed wing virus. Virulence 3(7): 589-591.

Schulz, M., Ścibior, R., Grzybek, M., Łoś, A., Paleolog, J., and Strachecka, A. (2019) A New Case of Honeybee *Apis mellifera* Infection with Bumblebee Parasite *Apicystis bombi* (Apicomplexa: Neogregarinorida). Comparative Parasitology 86(1): 65.

Sinpoo, C., Paxton, R. J., Disayathanoowat, T., Krongdang, S., and Chantawannakul, P. (2018) Impact of *Nosema ceranae* and Nosema apis on individual worker bees of the two host species (*Apis* cerana and *Apis mellifera*) and regulation of host immune response. Journal of Insect Physiology 105: 1-8.

Sinpoo, C., Paxton, R. J., Disayathanoowat, T., Krongdang, S., and Chantawannakul, P. (2018) Impact of *Nosema ceranae* and Nosema apis on individual worker bees of the two host species (*Apis* cerana and *Apis mellifera*) and regulation of host immune response. Journal of Insect Physiology 105: 1-8.

Southwick, E. E., and Southwick, L. (1992) Estimating the Economic Value of Honey Bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae) as Agricultural Pollinators in the United States. 85(3): 621-633.

Spivak, M., and Gilliam, M. (1998) Hygienic behaviour of honey bees and its application for control of brood diseases and varroa. Bee World 79(4): 169-186.

Spurgin, L. G., Illera, J. C., Padilla, D. P., and Richardson, D. S. (2012) Biogeographical patterns and co-occurrence of pathogenic infection across island populations of Berthelot's pipit (Anthus berthelotii). Oecologia 168(3): 691-701.

Steffan-Dewenter, I., Potts, S. G., and Packer, L. (2005) Pollinator diversity and crop pollination services are at risk. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 20(12): 651-652.

Stejskal, M. (1955) Gregarines Found in the Honey Bee*Apis mellifera*Linnaeus in Venezuela. Eukaryotic Microbiology 2(4): 185-188.

Stockwell, M. P., Bower, D. S., Bainbridge, L., Clulow, J., and Mahony, M. J. (2015) Island provides a pathogen refuge within climatically suitable area. Biodivers Conserv 24(10): 2583-2592.

Strauss, A., White, A., and Boots, M. (2012) Invading with biological weapons: the importance of disease-mediated invasions. 26(6): 1249-1261.

Tatem, A., Rogers, D., and Hay, S. (2006) Global Transport Networks and Infectious Disease Spread. : 293-343. doi:10.1016/s0065-308x(05)62009-x.

Tian, T., Piot, N., Meeus, I., and Smagghe, G. (2018) Infection with the multihost micro-parasite *Apicystis bombi* (Apicomplexa: Neogregarinorida) decreases survival of the solitary bee *Osmia bicornis*. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 158: 43-45.

Torretta, J., Medan, D., and Abrahamovich, A. (2006) First record of the invasive bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* (L.) (Hymenoptera, Apidae) in Argentina. 132(3): 285-289. Valles, S. M., and Pereira, R. M. (2003) Use of ribosomal DNA sequence data to characterize and detect a neogregarine pathogen of Solenopsis invicta (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 84(2): 114-118.

van den Eijnde, J. (1993) Nosema infection in honey bees (*Apis mellifera* L.) and bumble bees (*Bombus terrestris* L.). (Vette, N., Ed.)Proc. Exper and Appl. Enomol 4.

van Riper, C., van Riper, S. G., and Hansen, W. R. (2002) Epizootiology and Effect of Avian Pox on Hawaiian Forest Birds. The Auk 119(4): 929-942. vanEngelsdorp, D., and Meixner, M. D. (2010) A historical review of managed honey bee populations in Europe and the United States and the factors that may affect them. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology (103): S80-S95. doi:10.1016/j.jip.2009.06.011.

vanEngelsdorp, D., Evans, J. D., Saegerman, C., Mullin, C., Haubruge, E., Nguyen, B. K., Frazier, M., Frazier, J., Cox-Foster, D., and Chen, Y. (2009) Colony Collapse Disorder: A Descriptive Study. PLoS ONE 4(8): e6481.

Vanikova, S., Noskova, A., Pristas, P., Judova, J., and Javorsky, P. (2015) Heterotrophic bacteria associated with *Varroa destructor* mite. Apidologie 46(3): 369-379.

Vásquez, A., Forsgren, E., Fries, I., Paxton, R. J., Flaberg, E., Szekely, L., and Olofsson, T. C. (2012) Symbionts as Major Modulators of Insect Health: Lactic Acid Bacteria and Honeybees. PLoS ONE 7(3): e33188.

Washburn, J. O., Kirkpatrick, B. A., and Volkman, L. E. (1995) Comparative Pathogenesis of Autographa californica M Nuclear Polyhedrosis Virus in Larvae of Trichoplusia ni and Heliothis virescens. Virology 209(2): 561-568.

Weaver, S. C., Charlier, C., Vasilakis, N., and Lecuit, M. (2018) Zika, Chikungunya, and Other Emerging Vector-Borne Viral Diseases. Annu. Rev. Med. 69(1): 395-408.

Whitehorn, P. R., O'Connor, S., Wackers, F. L., and Goulson, D. (2012) Neonicotinoid Pesticide Reduces Bumble Bee Colony Growth and Queen Production. Science 336(6079): 351-352. Wikelski, M., Foufopoulos, J., Vargas, H., and Snell, H. (2004) Galápagos Birds and Diseases: Invasive Pathogens as Threats for Island Species. EandS 9(1).

Wilfert, L., Long, G., Leggett, H. C., Schmid-Hempel, P., Butlin, R., Martin, S. J. M., and Boots, M. (2016) Deformed wing virus is a recent global epidemic in honeybees driven by *Varroa* mites. Science 351(6273): 594-597.

Williams, G. R., Shafer, A. B., Rogers, R. E., Shutler, D., and Stewart, D. T. (2008) First detection of *Nosema ceranae*, a microsporidian parasite of European honey bees (*Apis mellifera*), in Canada and central USA. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 97(2): 189-192.

Williams, P. H., and Osborne, J. L. (2009) Bumblebee vulnerability and conservation world-wide. Apidologie 40(3): 367-387.

Wilson, W. (1971) Resistance to American foulbrood in honey bees. XI: Fate of Bacillus larvae spores ingested by adults. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 17(2): 247-255.

Wilson-Rich, N., Dres, S. T., and Starks, P. T. (2008) The ontogeny of immunity: Development of innate immune strength in the honey bee (*Apis mellifera*). Journal of Insect Physiology 54(10-11): 1392-1399.

Winston, M. L. (1987) The Biology of the Honey Bee.

Woolhouse, M. (2001) Population biology of emerging and re-emerging pathogens – preface. (Dye, C., Ed.)Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B (356): 981-982.

Woolhouse, M. E., Haydon, D. T., and Antia, R. (2005) Emerging pathogens: the epidemiology and evolution of species jumps. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 20(5): 238-244.

Yue, D., Nordhoff, M., Wieler, L. H., and Genersch, E. (2008) Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) analysis of the interactions between honeybee larvae and *Paenibacillus larvae*, the causative agent of American foulbrood of honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). 10(6): 1612-1620.

Zhao, Y., Heerman, M., Peng, W., Evans, J., Rose, R., DeGrandi-Hoffman,

G., Simone-Finstrom, M., Li, J., Li, Z., and Cook, S. (2019) The Dynamics of Deformed Wing Virus Concentration and Host Defensive Gene Expression after *Varroa* Mite Parasitism in Honey Bees, *Apis mellifera*. Insects 10(1): 16.